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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We are here

          3  today to have an oversight hearing on toilet paper,

          4  soap or paper towels. I should also let you know we

          5  will be voting on a series of school safety bills

          6  and so we will take a five-minute break at some

          7  point to vote on three bills before us.

          8                 The fact that we have to have a

          9  hearing on toilet paper and paper towels is

         10  preposterous. It's an embarrassment that the largest

         11  school system in the world that has had historically

         12  a reputation, unfortunately not recently but

         13  historically has had a reputation of being one of

         14  the best school systems in the world, has an absence

         15  of paper towels, soap and toilet paper. But

         16  unfortunately, we do have to have this hearing

         17  because it is a constant complaint among students,

         18  parents and teachers.

         19                 Usually we associate the term quality

         20  of life with adults, but today we clearly have to

         21  broaden that perspective and include kids. Our

         22  City's kids cannot be asked to go to school in

         23  conditions that predate the industrial revolution.

         24  Unsanitary bathrooms do just that.

         25                 As Diane Nathanial, a Manhattan
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          2  parent who filed bathroom complaints with 3-1-1

          3  said, "Using a safe and clean bathroom is not a

          4  privilege, it is a necessity and a right."

          5                 Another parent suggested that I would

          6  like to propose that the topic of germs be included

          7  in kindergarten science curriculum with a simple

          8  experiment demonstrating how germs grow on hands

          9  even though they can't be seen.

         10                 We have testimony which I include for

         11  the benefit of the public from parents, we'll also

         12  hear directly from parents later on today, but this

         13  topic came about, the topic for this hearing came

         14  about for two reasons: First, in holding meetings

         15  with PTAs and Town Hall meetings around the City, I

         16  can say definitively that there has not been a

         17  meeting on the topic of education that I have held

         18  in my five and a half years of sitting on this

         19  Committee where the topic has not come up, where a

         20  parent, usually a parent, although sometimes a

         21  child, has not asked me a question that I haven't

         22  been able to answer, and that question is: How can a

         23  system which spends millions and millions of dollars

         24  not provide the most basic hygienic product? And

         25  we're here to understand the answer to that
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          2  question, and if I knew the answer, I probably

          3  wouldn't be holding a hearing, but I don't know, and

          4  parents don't know and we have an obligation to

          5  provide them with the answer to fix this endemic

          6  problem.

          7                 We are very grateful this morning

          8  that the Deputy Chancellor for Administration,

          9  Kathleen Grimm, is here today. Marty Oestreicher is

         10  also here as well as Jim Lanagan (phonetic), and we

         11  appreciate your being here.

         12                 I would like to thank the Department

         13  for providing the answers to our information

         14  requests. I think it's a good three days in advance

         15  of the hearing. I think that's a record. We

         16  appreciate it very, very much the answers. We got

         17  data which we don't often get, and we are most

         18  grateful.

         19                 The one thing we didn't get, and I

         20  just want to alert you to it, and I think it's

         21  relatively easy for you to provide, is I had wanted

         22  to see copies of the paperwork that goes along with

         23  the ordering of supplies. I think you can do it

         24  digitally but there are also forms that I believe

         25  custodians fill out. We had asked for those and if
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          2  we could get them shortly after the hearing, that

          3  would be most helpful.

          4                 Thank you, and I appreciate you being

          5  here this morning.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Thank you

          7  very much.  We're delighted to be here this morning.

          8  Marty Oestreicher is going to read our official

          9  testimony, and then I would like to make a few

         10  comments.

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: Good morning, Chair

         12  Moskowitz, members of the City Council Education

         13  Committee. My name is Marty Oestreicher, Chief

         14  Executive of School Support Services at New York

         15  City Department of Education. I thank you for the

         16  opportunity to testify today.

         17                 Custodians and building managers

         18  manage over 1,200 school buildings. Among their

         19  primary responsibilities is the provision of clean

         20  and sanitary conditions for our students. This would

         21  encompass, of course, ensuring that bathrooms are

         22  clean and that students have toilet paper, paper

         23  towels and soap at their disposal.

         24                 The Department understands the

         25  importance of sanitary conditions in bathrooms to

                                                            7

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  health and the overall school environment.

          3                 Bathroom conditions are tasks

          4  specifically identified for rating in the evaluation

          5  form, in which principals rate custodians

          6  semi-annually. Custodial staff is expected to

          7  inspect and restock bathrooms as often as necessary

          8  to keep them adequately supplied. They are

          9  instructed that at a minimum they must conduct these

         10  inspections twice per day, at the beginning of the

         11  day and at least once after lunch periods are

         12  completed.

         13                 They inspect for cleanliness, damage,

         14  working toilets and the adequacy of supplies.

         15  Bathrooms are heavily used during these periods and

         16  in some cases need significant daily attention. No

         17  matter how the bathrooms are treated by their users,

         18  it is our responsibility to see that they are clean,

         19  working and fully supplied. The Department takes

         20  this responsibility very seriously.

         21                 Custodians are provided with a

         22  supplies allocation that is based primarily on the

         23  size of the school.

         24                 Last year, the Department overhauled

         25  the custodial procurement process, the new process
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          2  designed to reduce costs and provide control allows

          3  custodians to purchase supplies from a catalogue

          4  specifically prepared for our schools.

          5                 Custodians can order by fax, phone or

          6  Internet. Thanks to this process, we can track

          7  spending by volume and cost for every supply ordered

          8  off this contract that is purchased for our schools.

          9                 Our schools are fully stocked with

         10  paper towels, toilet paper and soap. Our reports

         11  indicate that last year custodians used our central

         12  contract to purchase 39,000 cases of paper towels,

         13  22,000 cases of toilet paper, and 1,340 cases of

         14  soap.

         15                 The value of these orders came to

         16  $1.3 million. This is in addition to orders placed

         17  outside the contract.

         18                 In our contractually managed schools

         19  our contractors are totally responsible for bathroom

         20  conditions, including the full stocking of supplies.

         21  Should they fail to do so, they will receive

         22  financial penalties under contract. Furthermore, if

         23  the Department has to place supplies in the schools,

         24  the amount spent on those supplies will be deducted

         25  from future payments.
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          2                 The supplies' allocation is

          3  sufficient to stock all our schools with the

          4  required amount of bathroom supplies. Parents or

          5  others should never be obligated to purchase these

          6  items on behalf of the school.

          7                 Our large network of school buildings

          8  rely on our deputy regional managers to ensure that

          9  conditions are being maintained.

         10                 In addition, as noted above,

         11  principals are required to evaluate custodians or

         12  private building managers twice per year. They are

         13  specifically asked to rate them on the way they

         14  maintain the bathrooms.

         15                 In the overwhelming majority of cases

         16  our custodians and managers have received the

         17  highest gradings in this area.

         18                 While we rely on regional managers to

         19  oversee the maintenance of bathrooms, we do not rely

         20  solely on them for information about that function.

         21                 In fact, the Department continues to

         22  vigilantly monitor conditions in our bathrooms

         23  directly, even though the heavy usage in some

         24  schools occasionally makes this a difficult task.

         25                 We will continue to work with
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          2  principals to ensure the availability of sanitary

          3  bathroom facilities in all our schools.

          4                 As part of this oversight, our office

          5  recently completed a spot survey of 1,000 of our

          6  1,200 school buildings, in more than 90 percent of

          7  the schools we examined all bathrooms had adequate

          8  supply of toilet tissue, paper towels and soap.

          9                 I expect that you will have received

         10  or will present at this hearing some evidence or

         11  testimony to the contrary from students and parents.

         12                 And I have no reason to question the

         13  accuracy of that information. For as anyone who has

         14  used the public facility, be it a highway, rest

         15  area, bathroom or a bathroom in a sports stadium or

         16  even a concert hall arena, I could tell you, there

         17  will always be times when supplies run short or

         18  facilities are abused. I will concede that the same

         19  is possible from time to time in some of our

         20  schools, but I would also strenuously emphasize that

         21  those circumstances are infrequent, particularly

         22  given the scale of our system, and that we will

         23  continue to ensure that our students have adequate

         24  supplies of hygiene-related materials at all times.

         25                 I thank you for the opportunity to
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          2  testify, and I will now turn it to Deputy Chancellor

          3  Grimm, who has a few comments.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Thank you,

          5  Marty.

          6                 I want to make three points here this

          7  morning on behalf of the Department. The first point

          8  is the supply of these toiletries. The stock is in

          9  the schools. I have never heard a complaint that a

         10  school did not have the stock. No parent should have

         11  to provide this material.

         12                 The second point is whether the stock

         13  is in the bathrooms. I will not sit here and tell

         14  you every single bathroom is totally stocked every

         15  single minute of every single day, but our

         16  custodians and our building managers inspect those

         17  bathrooms twice a day.

         18                 In some schools, parents, or

         19  principals, for good reasons, request the bathrooms

         20  not be stocked. The principal is in charge of the

         21  building. The custodian or the building manager will

         22  do what the principal requests.

         23                 The third point I want to make is

         24  that it is our job to respond to problems. So, you

         25  will hear from people today who have clearly gotten
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          2  complaints. I would like that data. We will respond

          3  to it. You don't have to stockpile it and have a

          4  public hearing. We would appreciate a copy of every

          5  single complaint you have.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We will

          7  happily give you a copy of every complaint. In fact,

          8  it's for the public record, so you have a copy right

          9  here.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Fine.

         11                 On behalf of the children of New

         12  York, I would ask that in the future when you get a

         13  complaint, you should transmit it to me immediately.

         14  We will act on it.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You know,

         16  that's great. And I think you know that we do, but

         17  our goal here is not to simply address -- our goal

         18  is not limited to addressing those people who happen

         19  to connect with the Chair of the Education Committee

         20  on a problem. Our goal is to make sure that the 1.1

         21  million children and their parents, who don't

         22  necessarily connect with the Chair of the Education

         23  Committee, or for that matter you, you know, we're

         24  not as accessible as we want to be, and I know you

         25  personally to be responsive to my requests and so
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          2  forth, that's not really the goal here. The goal

          3  here is to address a larger problem, and I believe

          4  that there are a sizable number of parents who

          5  haven't contacted me, based on the numbers that

          6  have, that feel this is a problem. But we will

          7  certainly get you all the complaints and we look

          8  forward, I would assume that in good faith you would

          9  make sure that for the parents who come forward,

         10  that those particular schools are stocked. You know,

         11  our goal is not only to make sure they're stocked

         12  three days after you make a phone call or three days

         13  after I make a phone call, but six weeks and six

         14  months. This is a long school year, it's 180 days,

         15  and we need to make sure that 180 days plus summer

         16  school has toilet paper, soap and paper towels.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I reiterate

         18  all the schools are stocked. That's not the problem.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, that's

         20  what we're here to find out. I appreciate your

         21  comment.

         22                 First, we have been joined by Council

         23  Member Robert Jackson from Manhattan. Thank you for

         24  being here.

         25                 I want to take you through a series
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          2  of questions, and it may be a little bit laborious,

          3  so I hope you'll bear with me. But I think it's

          4  important just to get through them.

          5                 Are paper towels, soap and toilet

          6  paper things that the Department is supposed to

          7  provide rather than parents?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Absolutely.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: How important

         10  are these items for students, teachers and parents?

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Essential.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: What happens

         13  if they're not available? What is a student or a

         14  teacher supposed to do if they notice that there is

         15  a problem?

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Speak to the

         17  principal who should speak to the custodian.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Are you aware

         19  that parents are asked to contribute paper towels,

         20  tissue and soap on a regular basis to their

         21  children's classrooms?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I am told

         23  the parents are asked.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But you've

         25  never seen the list?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Do you know

          4  what items are on those lists? Do you know the

          5  variety?

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I have heard

          7  everything from toilet paper to pencils.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

          9                 You asserted in your testimony, both

         10  of you that the bathrooms, let me quote from your

         11  testimony, Marty, since I have it here, "Our schools

         12  are fully stocked with paper towels, toilet paper

         13  and soap." Are you familiar with Craig's list?

         14                 MR. OESTREICHER: Craig's list? No.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. It's an

         16  Internet site, but let me just read from a few.

         17                 This is Risa Schneider, PS 155. She

         18  writes: "I am a new teacher. This year I will be

         19  teaching third grade at PS 155, on 117th Street

         20  between First and Second Avenues. This is a new

         21  class, in that there are four third grade classes

         22  instead of three this year, so I'm not really

         23  inheriting many books and supplies from my

         24  predecessors. I would like to provide my students

         25  with a safe, comfortable and friendly classroom
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          2  environment that will inspire their best learning."

          3  Among the items she requests are KleenX.

          4                 Annmarie Traump. I just have a few

          5  examples here. From PS 79, a request for toilet

          6  paper.

          7                 Robin Crowheilson from Motthaven

          8  Village School in the Bronx requests toilet paper.

          9  Are you familiar with these sites where teachers and

         10  parents and even kids can make requests for items?

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: Am I familiar with

         12  these particular letters? No. But I could tell you

         13  that every school we inspected is fully stocked with

         14  materials.

         15                 Now, I cannot tell you why a teacher

         16  asked for these particular items. There are a couple

         17  of schools that were in a recent article about a

         18  month ago in the Daily News where for the first time

         19  I saw some schools listed.  I contacted the

         20  principals of those schools and they said there is

         21  absolutely no reason, that whatever the reason was,

         22  it was not because the schools were short of stock

         23  of toilet paper and paper towels.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We didn't get

         25  to where the problem is in the pipeline in a second.
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          2  We can get to that. Whether they're sitting in a

          3  closet and not in the bathrooms. That may be the

          4  cause of the problem, whether the procurement system

          5  is not working as well.

          6                 Certainly another reason that I have

          7  heard is that students are misbehaving and so

          8  they're throwing toilet paper up on the ceiling

          9  instead of using it properly.

         10                 There may be a lot of explanations,

         11  and I would like any insight you can provide on what

         12  you think the real explanation is.

         13                 But first we have a matter of fact

         14  here, and you seem to be asserting that --

         15                 MR. OESTREICHER: I'm asserting that

         16  there is no need for a parent to have to bring in

         17  bathroom supplies because there's a shortage of

         18  schools.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: All right,

         20  you're asserting that. And what do you make of the

         21  fact that hundreds of parents say, including yours

         22  truly, I get a list every year, in fact, I get it

         23  several times a year, I get my list in the

         24  beginning, in September, then we run out, so I,

         25  again, after Christmas I go to CVS and I provide my
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          2  second bag, and then generally around May we have a

          3  smaller order where we don't have to spend your

          4  usual 40 or 50 bucks, it's generally maybe 15 bucks.

          5  Are you suggesting that the hundreds of parents,

          6  obviously I'm not in contact with the 1.1 million

          7  parents or guardians of the children, but are these

          8  hundreds of parents and the teachers who are posting

          9  a cry for help so that their students can maintain

         10  hiding or misrepresenting the situation?

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: I'm not saying that

         12  obviously. I'm saying that the schools are -- I

         13  don't know why teachers are including those items in

         14  the list of supplies that they're sending out.

         15                 Now, I will look into every case

         16  that's listed here or where there are these type of

         17  notes and find out why that's the case and why they

         18  feel the need to do that when we know the schools

         19  are adequately stocked.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: They feel the

         21  need. So, you're suggesting, I'm just trying to

         22  understand, you're suggesting that they may feel

         23  that there is this need, but it's not real?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We can't

         25  comment. We have no idea. The schools are stocked.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You have no

          3  idea, but you're saying the schools are stocked. So,

          4  when you say stocked, you mean, I presume, that

          5  there is toilet paper, for example, in the building.

          6  You don't mean in the stalls.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: As I --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Could you just

          9  answer my --

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: -- Said in

         11  my comments, the schools are stocked.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm trying to

         13  understand what you mean by stocked.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The material

         15  is in the building.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: In the

         17  building. Not in the bathrooms?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: In most

         19  cases it's in the bathroom. At any given moment at

         20  any given day, would a dispenser be empty? Yes. But

         21  not on a scale that would require parents to bring

         22  in supplies.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So you are

         24  saying that you believe that there is let's take

         25  toilet paper, for example. But it's not just that
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          2  it's in the building. You believe that it's in the

          3  stalls.

          4                 MR. OESTREICHER: In the overwhelming

          5  majority of cases that's correct.

          6                 Can you come into a bathroom in a

          7  school in a particular day after the lunch period,

          8  and go into the bathroom near the cafeteria and see

          9  that it might be light or see that it needs to be

         10  fixed up? Yes. You can go into the bathrooms at a

         11  particular time and see that they're short.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: What

         13  explanation can you think of, you're smart, creative

         14  people, what explanation could you think of that

         15  parents are being asked to bring in these items, and

         16  teachers are asking for philanthropy, for charity,

         17  essentially, for their kids.

         18                 What possible explanation?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I cannot

         20  speculate. It is our job to see that the stock is

         21  there. The stock is there. I am not going to

         22  speculate on why teachers are doing this.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, I need

         24  you to speculate, because you can't be saying that

         25  they're doing this without reason.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I have no

          3  idea what that reason is.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Are you

          5  familiar with Craig's list? I gather that you're

          6  not.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We are not.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. Are you

          9  familiar with Donors Choose?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. These

         12  are websites where teachers post items that they're

         13  in dire need of. And when you go to those websites,

         14  you will find that there are a plethora of teachers

         15  who are asking for these basic supplies. And what I

         16  want to try and understand is why these items are

         17  not in the stalls.

         18                 It's a little hard when you are

         19  contesting that they're there. But it seems to me

         20  that the evidence from parents and teachers,

         21  certainly from parents, the customers of your

         22  system, are the ones that you need to listen to. If

         23  they say that there's a problem with toilet paper,

         24  we need to hear that and respond to it.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I haven't
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          2  seen that data.

          3                 MR. OESTREICHER: I haven't seen it,

          4  and when we do see it, we will look into those

          5  specific schools.

          6                 Keep in mind we have 1,200 schools

          7  we're managing and we keep those numbers in

          8  perspective there.

          9                 But yes, in a case where -- I'd like

         10  to know, and the only case that I've seen in that

         11  article when I contacted the principals, they all

         12  said there was not an issue with stocking the

         13  bathroom. One was not sure why the teacher put it

         14  in, another said there was maybe --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. Can I

         16  just ask, it seems a little bit strange here. You

         17  called the principal and the story has been, it was

         18  in the paper, I'm not sure which one you were

         19  referring to, was this a Times' story?

         20                 MR. OESTREICHER: No. It was a Daily

         21  News' story. I don't know how long ago.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So you call

         23  the principal. Does the principal have a lot of

         24  motivation to tell you that everything is fine in

         25  this context?
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          2                 MR. OESTREICHER: The principals do

          3  not shy away from complaining to me about conditions

          4  in their schools.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Their school

          6  had just been exposed in a newspaper.

          7                 MR. OESTREICHER: He would have no

          8  problem blaming it on me if he felt that my unit was

          9  at fault. And he purposely went to say there was not

         10  a problem. And then, again, I rely on the evidence

         11  of our surveys which show that the overwhelming

         12  majority of schools --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, in that

         14  particular context, where the story -- you called up

         15  the principal and you said, hey, is there a problem

         16  here, or is this just a reporter making things up?

         17                 MR. OESTREICHER: I doubt if I used

         18  that language, but I asked for a status report on

         19  the conditions of the bathrooms.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And the

         21  principal said, yep, everything is fine. No problem.

         22                 MR. OESTREICHER: Something to that

         23  effect, but not in those words.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         25                 On October 11th, Mayor Bloomberg was
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          2  asked about the availability of paper towels, soap

          3  and toilet paper at some of the City schools, and

          4  the Mayor said, and I quote, "The truth of the

          5  matter is, we've checked, and every single one of

          6  those schools has plenty of towels and toilet paper

          7  in stock."

          8                 I assume when the Mayor said that,

          9  that he asked you, either Kathleen he asked you, or

         10  he asked you, Marty; is that correct? Did one of you

         11  take those phone calls? Were one of you asked about

         12  that?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We assured

         14  the Chancellor that the schools were stocked, and

         15  I'm sure he communicated that to the Mayor.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And when you

         17  said at that moment, when you communicated to the

         18  Chancellor that the schools were stocked, how did

         19  you know that at that moment?

         20                 MR. OESTREICHER: We had someone go to

         21  those schools that day that the article came out,

         22  and check the stock of these items at those schools.

         23  And those schools were overflowing with those

         24  supplies.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And did you
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          2  first call the principal to tell him or her that you

          3  were coming?

          4                 MR. OESTREICHER: No. Unannounced.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. So, you

          6  went unannounced, and these were the schools that

          7  were in the newspaper?

          8                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Now, if you

         10  were a principal, and you read about your school in

         11  the newspaper, and you saw that there was some kind

         12  of expose' that your school didn't have toilet paper

         13  in some of the bathrooms, what would you do in that

         14  context?

         15                 MR. OESTREICHER: I don't want to

         16  speak for any principal.

         17                 The issue is this: It wasn't a matter

         18  of the principal covering up. The schools were

         19  adequately stocked. It had nothing to do with the

         20  principal.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. Let me

         22  tell you what I'd do if I were a principal. I would,

         23  the morning that story came out, I would rush around

         24  like a mad woman and make sure, and I would

         25  personally check every bathroom and ensure that
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          2  there were toilet paper.

          3                 I would hope a responsible leader

          4  would be doing that on a regular basis, not simply

          5  when there was a news expose'. That's what I would

          6  do, and I would presume, Marty, being an energetic,

          7  responsible citizen and employer, you would do that

          8  as well; is that not right?

          9                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes. But the issue

         10  there is that there is no time to make a completely

         11  new order. We checked stock in the schools with our

         12  own people, without going to the principal, and

         13  looked at what was in those school stock areas, to

         14  see why would that request be made when we were

         15  fully stocked. And there wasn't a matter of getting

         16  the principal to rush and order toilet paper on the

         17  fly, wouldn't have even had time to do it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But you're not

         19  saying the person would have to rush, because you're

         20  saying that they're in the school building. So, the

         21  only thing the principal would have to do is go to

         22  the closet where the supplies are kept, and tell the

         23  custodian, make sure that every single bathroom in

         24  our school has toilet paper and paper towels and

         25  soap, right? Because it's in the building you're
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          2  saying.

          3                 MR. OESTREICHER: It was in the

          4  building. The building was stocked with materials,

          5  the principals in charge, and there was no problem

          6  in those schools.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Does the

          8  Department -- we've been joined by my colleagues,

          9  Council Member John Liu from Queens, and Council

         10  Member Domenic Recchia from Brooklyn.

         11                 Just so my colleagues know, we are

         12  going to be, and your offices all got notification,

         13  we're going to be taking a break to vote on three

         14  school safety bills at some point when we have a

         15  quorum.

         16                 Does the Department's building

         17  condition assessment survey count bathrooms?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No, it does

         19  not.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: This is called

         21  the BCAS Survey (phonetic). Does the BCAS survey

         22  count the number of rooms that have sinks?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No, it does

         24  not.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. And
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          2  presumably those rooms that have sinks would

          3  obviously need paper towels and soap.

          4                 Let me ask you this: If you don't

          5  know the number of bathrooms, how can you have a

          6  ten-year need assessment in your five-year capital

          7  plan, and allocate money for bathrooms if you don't

          8  even know how many there are?

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Well, you

         10  are familiar with how the plan is constructed. The

         11  survey rates all of our various systems and

         12  facilities from one to five, five being the poorest

         13  condition.

         14                 We do not have the resources, even

         15  with this very large capital plan that we've

         16  undertaken, to do everything, and so we prioritize.

         17  The fives, the fours, as far as we can go, are done.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But in

         19  estimating cost, wouldn't you want to know if a

         20  school has both in a girls' and a boys' bathroom on

         21  every floor, or it's only every other floor,

         22  wouldn't you need to know that?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Wouldn't it

         25  affect the cost?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It wouldn't

          4  affect the costs, how many? Well, that troubles me.

          5                 In other words, if there are fewer

          6  bathrooms, it's sort of we pay? No matter how many

          7  bathrooms there are, we pay the same amount? Surely

          8  that's not the case.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'm not

         10  quite sure I understand your connection to the cost

         11  here.

         12                 The projects that are included in the

         13  capital plan are prioritized based on the condition

         14  of the facility.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right. But the

         16  condition of the facility does not seem to include a

         17  knowledge of how many bathrooms there are and

         18  whether they're working or not. Wouldn't you have to

         19  know that on a given elementary school in the fourth

         20  floor there are a boys' and girls' bathroom, four

         21  stalls in each bathroom and only two working

         22  toilets, wouldn't that affect how much it was rated

         23  and how much it would cost to fix?

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: A working

         25  toilet should be fixed. A working toilet should not
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          2  await the BCAS study.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. Well,

          4  let me just point to the toilet behind you, which

          5  you're familiar with. This bathroom I believe was at

          6  PS 183 and did not get fixed until the Council

          7  allocated funds and then got fixed.

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We are

          9  grateful for the funds. We do not have funds to meet

         10  all our needs.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, so

         12  you're saying, I thought you just said any bathroom

         13  that's not working should get fixed.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It doesn't

         15  get fixed tomorrow unfortunately.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So we do have

         17  enough money because you say they get fixed?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We do not.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm confused,

         20  what you're saying. I was really trying to not get

         21  into the money issue right at this moment, not that

         22  it's --

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Money has to

         24  do with everything we do.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I understand
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          2  that. I'm well aware of that. But we can't know how

          3  much money we need if we don't even know how many

          4  bathrooms there are. And what you're telling me is

          5  that the Department does not include, is this

          6  correct? The Department does not include in its DCAS

          7  survey the number of bathrooms or sinks in the New

          8  York City school system.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That is

         10  correct.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         12                 Now, you don't know how many

         13  bathrooms there are, how can you budget each year

         14  for bathroom supplies?

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It's not

         16  relevant.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It's not

         18  relevant?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We have

         20  18,000 to 19,000 bathrooms, what difference does it

         21  make?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, you need

         23  more toilet paper.  I'm sorry, am I missing

         24  something? You need more toilet paper. I think you

         25  have more toilet bowls. Am I missing something here?
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          2                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. Tell me

          4  what I'm missing.

          5                 MR. OESTREICHER: The supplies budget

          6  is school based. Custodians know what they need and

          7  they order it in adequate amount. It doesn't matter

          8  to me if they have 12,000 bathrooms or 13.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: They appear

         10  not to know what they need.

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: No, I think they do.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: They appear

         13  not to know what they need. So let me just

         14  understand.

         15                 You're saying it makes no difference

         16  how many toilet bowls there are in the New York City

         17  public school system, vis-a-vis ordering supplies?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The

         19  custodian or the building manager in every building

         20  knows how many toilet bowls he or she has in the

         21  building, he or she is responsible for ordering

         22  supplies.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, if they

         24  know this so well, why wouldn't they e-mail it to

         25  you so you could include it in the building survey.
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          2  If they're knowledge is so great, why wouldn't you

          3  have included it in the BCAS survey.

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: This data

          5  has never been collected.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. I want

          7  to understand, in the answers to our information

          8  requests, which were quite helpful -- well, let me

          9  go back a second. The Mayor said, I think slightly

         10  before October 11th, I don't know the exact date, or

         11  maybe it was on October 11th. It was on October

         12  11th. On October 11th, vis-a-vis the issue of toilet

         13  paper, soap and paper towels, and I quote, "I think

         14  this is the perfect example of a tempest in a toilet

         15  bowl." And I assume that what he meant by that was

         16  that people were making a whole, a fuss about

         17  nothing at all, that there wasn't a problem, and

         18  that his view accords with your view, because you

         19  gave him the view, I assume, that the schools are

         20  well stocked and this is not a problem.

         21                 In answer to a number of our

         22  questions, you indicated that you -- I'm trying to

         23  understand if the Mayor made that statement before

         24  or after you told him, in answer to some of our

         25  questions, for example, how many classrooms in fact
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          2  have these items regularly and consistently, that

          3  the Division of School Facilities does not have

          4  access to this information. My question is this: How

          5  would the Mayor be in a position to say that this is

          6  a tempest in a toilet bowl if you are fully

          7  acknowledging that you don't know if these supplies

          8  are regularly provided?

          9                 MR. OESTREICHER: That's not what we

         10  acknowledge. You said how many art classes are there

         11  or shop classes and so forth, we in the schools will

         12  provide paper towels and soap to schools that have

         13  sinks or art classes, as the principal requests.

         14                 The question at the time was, are our

         15  bathrooms stocked? And I will stick to that position

         16  that our bathrooms are stocked, the schools are

         17  stocked with bathroom supplies, and they're adequate

         18  to meet the needs of that school. Every school.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And how do you

         20  know that?

         21                 MR. OESTREICHER: Because we surveyed

         22  our schools, we checked the stock.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Could we go

         24  back? You did say in your testimony that you

         25  surveyed. Can you tell me the date that you did that
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          2  and how you went about doing that? You said as part

          3  of this oversight, our office recently -- can you

          4  tell me how recently, exactly when?

          5                 MR. OESTREICHER: It was conducted

          6  over the last, probably the last month.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Can you be a

          8  little more specific?

          9                 When did you start?

         10                 MR. OESTREICHER: October.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: October what?

         12                 MR. OESTREICHER: Probably --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: 11th perhaps?

         14                 MR. OESTREICHER: I'd say about

         15  mid-October. I don't have the exact date we started

         16  the survey.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, could

         18  you go back and tell us? Because you presumably know

         19  when you started, if you could get us the exact

         20  date.

         21                 But for purposes of today, let's say

         22  mid-October. Can you tell us about how you conducted

         23  the survey? Did you do it by phone?

         24                 MR. OESTREICHER: No. Our regional,

         25  Deputy Regional Managers visited every school in
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          2  their jurisdiction. Just about every school in their

          3  jurisdiction visited all the bathrooms personally,

          4  and recorded their findings. And they went in the

          5  middle of the day --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, was this

          7  before or after a notice went out in the Principals'

          8  Weekly admonishing principals that they should

          9  ensure that the bathrooms are fully stocked. Do you

         10  recall?

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: I believe we started

         12  it before.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And, so, could

         14  you just give me a little bit more sense of how you

         15  did this? You made a visit to, I believe there are

         16  now 1,300 schools and change, 1,356?

         17                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, can you

         19  just explain mechanically how this worked? These

         20  were unannounced visits, I assume?

         21                 MR. OESTREICHER: Unannounced visits

         22  by our Deputy Regional Managers to the schools where

         23  they inspected the bathrooms.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And, so, a

         25  Deputy Regional Manager, is that in the region or is
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          2  that at Tweed?

          3                 MR. OESTREICHER: It's field manager.

          4                 The Deputy Regional Manager--

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: How many are

          6  there?

          7                 MR. OESTREICHER: About 32.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, all 32

          9  went out and visited all 1,356 schools?

         10                 MR. OESTREICHER: There are 1,356

         11  schools, there aren't necessarily 1,356 sites.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: 1,200

         13  buildings. So they went to the 1,200 buildings.

         14  Twelve-hundred and change?

         15                 MR. OESTREICHER: Actually a little

         16  less than 1,200.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. And they

         18  arrived at any particular time of day?

         19                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Can you tell

         21  me? Was there a sort of plan?

         22                 MR. OESTREICHER: They arrived during

         23  the day. I can't say they arrived at the same time

         24  at the school every day. They arrived during when

         25  school was in use. Not necessarily the very
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          2  beginning of the day before school started, and they

          3  recorded their findings, and they checked the stock

          4  rooms. They recorded on the conditions of the

          5  bathrooms and whether the stock rooms were supplied,

          6  as well as the bathrooms.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

          8                 Can you describe the procurement

          9  process for me? I'm a custodian. Can you tell me, is

         10  it different under the privatized managed schools,

         11  are there still 95?

         12                 MR. OESTREICHER: Ninety-seven now.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Ninety-seven.

         14  Can you describe for me, I'm a custodian, I'm new,

         15  and I want to order toilet paper, what do I do?

         16                 MR. OESTREICHER: There is a catalogue

         17  where many supplies that you need through the

         18  schools are included. Consult the catalogue. Order

         19  it through the catalogue, as I indicated. You can

         20  fax the request, you can phone it in. If he's

         21  connected he's got computer capability. He could

         22  e-mail that request in.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: How many of

         24  the non-privatized, how many order it by phone

         25  versus the Internet?
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          2                 MR. OESTREICHER: I don't know.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Approximately?

          4                 MR. OESTREICHER: I don't know.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Is it ten

          6  percent?

          7                 MR. OESTREICHER: I'd say the majority

          8  would be by phone or fax and not internet. But I

          9  can't tell you the number.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: If I may

         12  interject before Marty goes on to talk about the

         13  building managers?

         14                 I'd like to point out that Marty and

         15  his team put this procurement methodology in place.

         16  Prior to that, we would not have even had the data

         17  that we provided you with today. Prior to that, each

         18  custodian did his or her own purchasing and central

         19  team really had no idea.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: That is a

         21  profound accomplishment in the system and we

         22  appreciate that.

         23                 You know, and it goes without saying

         24  that it shouldn't be a profound accomplishment, but

         25  anyone who knows something about the school system
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          2  knows that it is and you are to be commended for

          3  instituting that and we appreciate it.

          4                 So, let's say I phone in and I say

          5  that I want X number of cases of toilet paper; how

          6  long does it take for the stuff to arrive?

          7                 MR. OESTREICHER: I think it's about

          8  five days delivery time that we're averaging.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. Five

         10  business days?

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: Let's call it five

         12  business days, be conservative.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That would

         15  be a regular order. If there were an emergency

         16  shortage, there would be a different process.

         17                 MR. OESTREICHER: Right. Plus we have

         18  our own centers for emergencies too.

         19                 We have one school, at least one

         20  school in every borough. If for some reason a school

         21  falls short, that there's an emergency supply depot,

         22  you might say, where we keep these kinds of

         23  supplies.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Let me ask you

         25  about that, because I was a little surprised to
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          2  learn that.

          3                 You know I think of sort of emergency

          4  supplies, I somehow think of items that are less

          5  common than toilet paper.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We don't say

          7  that it happens often. What we do is try to build in

          8  a back-up if for some reason there was a need to get

          9  this material to schools quickly.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But why would

         11  there be a need?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't

         13  know. But I know in the system anything can happen.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right. But

         15  we're trying to make sure that anything doesn't

         16  happen.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That's what

         18  we're trying to do and that's why we keep the back

         19  up.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But don't you

         21  find it odd that we have an emergency borough

         22  depository for toilet paper? You don't find that

         23  odd? I mean --

         24                 MR. OESTREICHER: Not just for toilet

         25  paper. It's for a lot of supplies.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I mean, we're

          3  not talking about uranium, we're talking about

          4  toilet paper.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Which is a

          6  very important product to have in our schools, as

          7  you pointed out earlier, Councilwoman.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Right. But you

          9  don't think there's -- the fact that we need

         10  emergency supplies of toilet paper, you don't think

         11  that tells you anything about the regular ordering

         12  process?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No.

         14                 MR. OESTREICHER: No.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: It tells you

         16  nothing at all?

         17                 MR. OESTREICHER: No.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It tells me

         19  that we have a back-up if something goes wrong.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I don't have

         21  an emergency supply of toilet paper in my home.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I do.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You do, okay.

         24                 Well, it seems to me that the fact

         25  that we have these special locations of toilet paper
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          2  --

          3                 MR. OESTREICHER: It's not just toilet

          4  paper.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Suggests that

          6  we're not getting the supplies on a regular basis.

          7                 Obviously, based on what parents are

          8  telling us, and based on what kids are telling us,

          9  and based on the fact that people are posting

         10  requests for toilet paper, suggests that what we

         11  need is not an emergency depository, but we need to

         12  fix the kinks in the system that are obviously

         13  occurring.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM:

         15  Councilwoman, I don't know what language I have to

         16  speak. The problem is not getting the supplies to

         17  the schools. The schools are stocked.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I don't know

         19  what language I have to speak, but let me try it

         20  again. There isn't a sufficient amount of toilet

         21  paper, power towels and soap in the New York City

         22  school system. And I say that as a parent of a New

         23  York City public school, I say it as the Chair of

         24  the Education Committee. I welcome, you can come to

         25  my meetings. Erin has been to a lot of them, and you
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          2  are always welcome, to hear firsthand from parents

          3  that this is a problem. And denying reality, denying

          4  reality is not going to get us closer to solving the

          5  problem.

          6                 There may be an explanation for why

          7  it's not getting into the stalls, and I'm interested

          8  in hearing that explanation.

          9                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Okay, let us

         10  talk about that. But let us not say that the supply

         11  is not in the schools.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You said, I

         13  asked you very concurrently. I said, when you say

         14  the schools are fully stocked, do you mean that the

         15  supplies are in the building? And you said, no. I

         16  mean, the supplies are in the stalls. You can't

         17  possibly say that, unless you are in schools on a

         18  regular basis. And I would still maintain that one

         19  spotcheck once a day over the course of three weeks

         20  does not tell you about the irregularity of the

         21  problem. These do, Donors Choose Craig lists. Any

         22  parent in the New York City school system can tell

         23  you that they are being asked to supply these

         24  supplies. So, clearly there's a problem. Let's move

         25  away from denying it and let's try and move on to
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          2  solving it and I'm sure that you have some very good

          3  solutions to solving the problems. We obviously all

          4  want to solve the problem.

          5                 Let me just move on from the

          6  emergency stockpile toilet paper and paper towels to

          7  the issue of whose job it is, and I want to

          8  understand this. If I'm understanding things

          9  correctly, it's the custodian's job to order the

         10  supplies, right?

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: Correct.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And before

         13  this survey that you did October 15th, whose job was

         14  it to make sure that the custodian did, in fact,

         15  order the supplies?

         16                 MR. OESTREICHER: Custodians are

         17  responsible for ordering the supplies. The custodian

         18  is accountable to the principal, as well as to the

         19  Deputy Regional Manager on a regular basis.

         20                 That was a formal survey. Deputy

         21  Regional Managers go to the school on a regular

         22  basis, and check the bathrooms all the time.

         23                 So, if they go into school and they

         24  see the bathrooms are not up to snuff, they will be

         25  talking to the custodian about that.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, let me

          3  just understand.

          4                 Prior to this mid-October 15th

          5  survey, you did other systemwide surveys?

          6                 MR. OESTREICHER: I'm not saying

          7  systemwide surveys. It's part of the responsibility,

          8  the ongoing supervision of custodians.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: How do you

         10  know that, for instance, I assume the folks in your

         11  office, Mr. Lanagan, are the ones who check whether

         12  the custodians have, in fact, put the toilet paper

         13  in the bathrooms. How frequently were they doing the

         14  checking prior to let's say September of this year?

         15                 MR. LANAGAN: Well, they get to their

         16  schools probably about once a month.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. And how

         18  do they check?

         19                 MR. LANAGAN: They walk the building.

         20  And they come unannounced.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And there's a

         22  survey.

         23                 MR. LANAGAN: No, there's no survey.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So you can't

         25  provide any documents for the Committee that suggest
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          2  that at school X on May 15th the plant manager

          3  walked in to walk through every bathroom and

          4  confirmed that there was toilet paper; is that

          5  correct?

          6                 MR. LANAGAN: No. No.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Correct.

          8                 MR. LANAGAN: For school opening there

          9  was.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, the first

         11  day of school?

         12                 MR. LANAGAN: Yes. During the summer

         13  when they get their supplies, you make sure the

         14  supplies gets to the school. We make sure that the

         15  custodians are doing a number of things in school,

         16  in private school opening, and then come unannounced

         17  visits.

         18                 There are schools that are difficult.

         19  Each plant manager or regional manager will be able

         20  to tell you that in every school district there's

         21  schools that are very difficult, junior high schools

         22  and middle schools especially they have to pay more

         23  attention to, which they do.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, prior to

         25  the opening of school, the plant manager goes and
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          2  has a check list where, is there some documentation

          3  that would allow us to see that the plant managers

          4  walked into a particular school and found inadequate

          5  toilet paper stocking?

          6                 MR. LANAGAN: No. Basically he would

          7  first go back to the custodian, tell him that he

          8  found it, and replaced on it, and on his next visit,

          9  if he found the same thing he would take normal

         10  disciplinary action.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But is there a

         12  record of the first, the first time it's a problem?

         13  Is there any record of that?

         14                 MR. LANAGAN: No. He would probably

         15  write it in the custodial log, which is by contract

         16  we write in the custodial log, if we find something.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Have you ever

         18  seen in a custodial log no toilet paper in the

         19  bathrooms complaint from a plant manager?

         20                 MR. LANAGAN: Yes. I've written it

         21  myself.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. And how

         23  frequently would you say?  You've got 32 plant

         24  managers, one of 32 complaints of it?

         25                 MR. LANAGAN: I have no idea exactly
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          2  how many times, but I know my managers, we

          3  constantly meet and go over any districts or problem

          4  areas and they are told exactly -- I mean, they're

          5  managers, they don't have to write everything down

          6  or make a checklist of everything.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes, but

          8  writing things down is helpful when you want to go

          9  back and check whether something was done. I'm a big

         10  believer in writing things down, are you not?

         11                 MR. LANAGAN: So am I.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Oh, good. So,

         13  we both agree that writing things down is a good

         14  idea. And is there any written documentation that

         15  the Committee could see and know whether indeed

         16  plant managers are checking whether there is toilet

         17  paper in the bathrooms?

         18                 MR. LANAGAN: There is no written

         19  document. But I would probably refer you to the

         20  principal rating form, and look at the principal

         21  rating form. Because if there is an ongoing problem,

         22  the principal definitely knows about it because

         23  there's a plan between the principal and the

         24  custodian or building manager in every building, and

         25  they would go over that plan on a regular basis to
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          2  make sure that the bathrooms --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But it's

          4  possible no one is doing your job. The principal

          5  isn't finding out this is a problem. The custodian

          6  is not finding out. The only people who know about

          7  it are the kids who are using the bathrooms, and

          8  perhaps the teachers who are talking directly to

          9  kids, is that not possible?

         10                 MR. LANAGAN: Anything is possible.

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Let's go

         12  back to the basics.

         13                 I don't think it's possible that no

         14  one is doing their job.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I didn't say

         16  no one.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Our

         18  custodians and are building managers are responsible

         19  for checking those bathrooms twice a day. In large

         20  measure, most of our custodians and most of our

         21  building managers are doing their job, they're doing

         22  it very well.

         23                 It is then the responsibility of the

         24  regional manager to perform oversight and to visit

         25  the schools and to go back and if there is a
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          2  problem, which is not the case in the majority of

          3  the schools, you go back --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You keep

          5  asserting that, and, yet, you do not know. You do

          6  not know, none of us know. All I know is that every

          7  time I do a town hall meeting, it comes up. I don't

          8  know if it's a problem at 50 percent of the schools,

          9  80 percent or 25 percent.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: And the

         11  problem is?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You don't know

         13  either.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: And the

         15  problem is what?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: The problem is

         17  kids don't have toilet paper, soap and paper towels.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The schools

         19  have those supplies. My message to the parents is

         20  they do not need to provide this.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: You know, I

         22  could read the sampling of parents here and --

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I look

         24  forward to reading it myself.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'll read a
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          2  few.

          3                 Margaret Falzone. Parent, PS 2 in

          4  Queens. "No soap or paper towels in the bathroom."

          5                 Cathy Ellman. Parent at PS 11. "There

          6  is no soap, broken doors and no paper towels."

          7                 Melvyn Meer.  Parent, PS 41, Queens.

          8  "The first two stalls have neither toilet paper or

          9  a toilet paper holder receptacle."

         10                 Lisa Gerswin. Parent at Edwin Murrow

         11  High School. "The toilets are disgusting and there

         12  is no toilet paper. There is a sign that states'wash

         13  your hands before leaving this room' and there are

         14  no paper towels."

         15                 Andrea DeFuri. Parent, PS 11. "My

         16  daughter has been a student there for three years,

         17  and since that time the restrooms have been

         18  inadequately stocked with paper towels and soap."

         19                 Abraham Lincoln High School. "A

         20  bathroom is outside the gym in the basement of the

         21  school, but the only stall has no door. I just try

         22  to wait til I get home."

         23                 I could go on, but I won't. I don't

         24  think this argument is fruitful. I think we have to

         25  get to the bottom of where the paper towels and soap
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          2  and toilet paper are, the question of whether there

          3  is enough, and why they're not in the bathrooms. I

          4  don't think it's fruitful, again, I'll reiterate

          5  myself, to deny reality. But before we go on to one

          6  other topic and then I will turn the floor over to

          7  my colleagues.

          8                 I want to ask, to what extent do you

          9  think that the problem, and it seems to me the

         10  problem could lie in procurement, it could lie at

         11  the schools in that the toilet paper is in a closet

         12  somewhere and not regularly getting into the stalls,

         13  or another part of the problem could lie in that

         14  students are acting disruptively and using toilet

         15  paper and paper towels for not their intended

         16  purpose.

         17                 My own experience in schools is that

         18  that is often the case, that students are

         19  misbehaving, and that they're throwing the toilet

         20  paper, wetting it, throwing it up on the ceiling. Is

         21  that a problem in the New York City school system?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: It happens.

         23  Of course it happens.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Does it happen

         25  often?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: In response

          3  to it, principals will often instruct custodians not

          4  to stock the bathroom with paper, --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Do you believe

          6  that is an acceptable response to the problem of

          7  student misbehavior?

          8                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: If I can

          9  finish?

         10                 The principal will then make other

         11  arrangements so that the children will have the

         12  supplies to take into the bathroom. And I think it

         13  is totally appropriate for that decision to be made

         14  at the school level by the principal.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: The problem is

         16  that if the principals are making that decision

         17  often alternative means are not being provided.

         18                 Do you believe that it is an adequate

         19  response -- first let me ask, do you believe that

         20  it's a common problem that students are misbehaving

         21  and misusing these toilet items, if you will?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I don't know

         23  if it's a common problem. I know it is a problem in

         24  some schools, that I know that in response to it,

         25  the principals ask custodians not to stock the
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          2  facilities.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. Jim,

          4  you've been around a long time, you've had a lot of

          5  contact with custodians. Do custodians complain that

          6  this is a problem?

          7                 MR. LANAGAN: Sometimes they do, yes.

          8  Sometimes they do.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Would you say

         10  it's a problem in one percent of the schools, 80

         11  percent of the schools or somewhere in between?

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We don't

         13  have that data.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, that's a

         15  problem that you don't have that data, because that

         16  means that you don't know which schools there is

         17  student misbehavior that is a problem, not only -- I

         18  mean, if kids are throwing toilet paper onto the

         19  ceiling, they're probably doing other sorts of

         20  disruptive things. Do you have a sense of what is

         21  the best way to handle that particular problem?

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'm sorry,

         23  we're in charge of getting this material into the

         24  bathrooms. You really need to talk to my colleagues

         25  in instruction who manage --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, you were

          3  free to bring anyone you want. In fact, we didn't

          4  even know you were coming. Since last night we were

          5  told that it was only Marty Oestreicher. But we're

          6  delighted that you're here.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'm

          8  delighted to be here.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Presumably if

         10  this is a problem, in which instruction and

         11  discipline, there's a convergence between supplies

         12  and instruction and discipline, that you were all at

         13  Tweed and can kind of get together and figure out

         14  how to solve the problem.

         15                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: As I said

         16  before, it is appropriate for the decision to be

         17  made at the school level by the principal.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, let me

         19  ask you this: Would you be troubled if a principal,

         20  in response to disruptive, admittedly disruptive

         21  students, decided that they were going to take away

         22  all of the soap and paper towels and toilet paper,

         23  would that be an appropriate response on the part of

         24  the principal, in your view?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think the
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          2  principal has to provide alternative means of

          3  allowing children to have these supplies when

          4  they're in the facility.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So the answer,

          6  I take it, is no, it would not be an adequate

          7  response? Okay.

          8                 One final question, if Hannah let's

          9  me get through it. I was looking over the data, and,

         10  obviously, it's a lot of data to look over, but I

         11  was looking over the data by district in terms of

         12  how much districts are spending on toilet paper,

         13  soap and paper towels. And I was troubled to see,

         14  District 2, which I represent, spent 90,000 on

         15  toilet paper, soap and paper towels, while District

         16  16 spent only 8,000.

         17                 Surely it's not the case that

         18  children on the upper east side of Manhattan go to

         19  the bathroom, let's say, 11 times more frequently

         20  than the kids in District 8. So, can you explain

         21  that disparity?

         22                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes. Well, of

         23  course, there's probably a disparity in the size of

         24  the district. But you're probably right, it's not 11

         25  times greater, I would imagine. District 2 is I
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          2  think a lot larger than that district. But that is

          3  only what was ordered off that contract. That does

          4  not represent the stock that's in the school. There

          5  is an opening inventory, it's what they ordered last

          6  year off the supply. Sometimes custodians can go and

          7  still use their building allocation to order

          8  supplies outside of this contract. So this is just

          9  what was ordered this central contract. It doesn't

         10  say what stock was already in schools before the

         11  year began. If District 16 schools had plenty of

         12  stock left over from the previous year, the

         13  custodians in that district will not have ordered as

         14  much supplies under this contract.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But District 2

         16  seems like it's not running out, as frequently, at

         17  least, as District 16, right? If they're stockpiling

         18  toilet paper, which seems that's, am I understanding

         19  correctly that that's your interpretation, that

         20  somehow they are, have hold-over supplies from the

         21  previous year?

         22                 MR. OESTREICHER: Very good

         23  possibility.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I would rather

         25  go to the school where the toilet paper is being
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          2  stockpiled than the one where it's cutting it close

          3  to the margins, right? Wouldn't you?

          4                 MR. OESTREICHER: I don't know where

          5  you can draw that conclusion in the numbers you're

          6  seeing there.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, District

          8  2 spent 90,000, which is almost 11 times what

          9  District 16, and unless there are gross disparities

         10  in the number of children. But let's even look at

         11  the other, District 2 exceeds almost every other

         12  district by, every district by around 40,000. In

         13  other words, District 16 has the lowest allocation

         14  for toilet paper, soap and paper towels --

         15                 MR. OESTREICHER: It's not an

         16  allocation, by the way. The allocation is based on

         17  square footage. It's what the custodian orders with

         18  that allocation. He's the judge of what he needs in

         19  his school.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So what does

         21  the $90,000 represent? Isn't it the amount spent?

         22                 MR. OESTREICHER: The amount that was

         23  actually purchased.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay.

         25                 MR. OESTREICHER: You said allocation.
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          2  It's not the allocation. They get an allocation

          3  based on square footage. They don't have to buy

          4  toilet paper --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm a layman,

          6  so you'll have to forgive me. But District 2

          7  purchased $90,000 worth of toilet paper, soap and

          8  paper towels, and District 16, which I think is

          9  Northern Brooklyn, is anyone on the Committee? I

         10  think it's Northern Brooklyn, and maybe it has parts

         11  of Queens, spent only $8,000; does that disparity

         12  trouble you?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: On the

         14  contract.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: On paper

         16  towels, soap and toilet paper.

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Through a

         18  contract for contract purchases?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Does the

         20  disparity trouble you?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: No, it does

         22  not.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: So, you're not

         24  worried that in District 16 they only spent 8,000?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I'd have to
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          2  do -- we don't have all the data. This is only the

          3  supply that was purchased for the contract --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But if you

          5  don't have the data, how can you keep asserting that

          6  everything is fine? You can't have it both ways.

          7                 Either you don't have the data, and

          8  therefore you don't really know what's going on out

          9  there; or you do have the data, and you have

         10  concluded by a rigorous investigation that there is

         11  no problem with the stalls having toilet paper, but

         12  you can't say it both ways.

         13                 MR. OESTREICHER: This is just a

         14  record of what they purchased. We know the

         15  custodians know their schools. We have our field

         16  managers oversee them, and the custodians will order

         17  the right amount of materials for their schools. And

         18  if they had stock and they're ordering less than

         19  another district. I don't know what the particular

         20  situation was in those schools.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: But wouldn't

         22  you want to find out?

         23                 MR. OESTREICHER: I would want to find

         24  out that the schools are --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Aren't you

                                                            62

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  itching to go back to your office to say what is

          3  going on here? Why is District 2 purchasing so many

          4  more rolls of paper towels, toilet paper and soap by

          5  $40,000 any other district in the City? And by the

          6  way, as a parent of District 2, it's still not

          7  enough. We may have it better than my colleagues on

          8  this Committee, but it's still not enough. Aren't

          9  you itching to go back and figure out what is the

         10  cause of that disparity?

         11                 MR. OESTREICHER: No, I'm itching to

         12  know that the schools are stocked. People in the

         13  field go to the schools and they tell me the schools

         14  are adequately stocked.

         15                 I'm not as concerned with how they

         16  stocked it, through the central contract, or if they

         17  ordered previous, from the previous years.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I will just

         19  preclude, I am profoundly troubled that you are,

         20  "trusting your employees over the kids and parents

         21  in the school system." I think the people you have

         22  to trust are the users, and that is kids and

         23  parents. And I would recommend that before you

         24  conclude that everything is fine, you need to get

         25  beyond talking to your employees and talk directly
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          2  to kids and parents.

          3                 Let me turn the microphone --

          4                 MR. OESTREICHER: When we hear from

          5  the kids and parents and we get those complaints, we

          6  will certainly look into --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes. We don't

          8  want to solve this, though, in a piece-by-piece

          9  manner. We want to solve the overall problem.

         10                 MR. OESTREICHER: We would like to get

         11  a perspective on what that overall problem is.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: -- I do not

         13  want to come back here six months from now and have

         14  a second hearing on this topic. So, I want you to go

         15  back and do everything you can to figure out the

         16  underlying causes of this problem, and if you're

         17  starting with the premise that there is no problem,

         18  it's going to be hard to solve.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: There is no

         20  problem with the schools being stocked. That isn't

         21  to say there aren't problems in each individual

         22  facility or dispenser.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Well, didn't

         24  the Chancellor say it's not about the system, it's

         25  about those 1,200 individual schools? When I send my
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          2  kid to a school, frankly, I don't really care if the

          3  system is well stocked, I want to make sure that the

          4  bathroom that my kid goes to has toilet paper. And

          5  I'm telling you that the schools don't.

          6                 What percentage, I think we don't

          7  know, and that's what it's your job to find out.

          8                 Let me turn to my colleagues. Council

          9  Member Oliver Koppell has joined us, Council Member

         10  David Yassky, and Council Member Leroy Comrie. And

         11  we're going to first hear from Liu and Council

         12  Member Recchia.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Thank you, Madam

         14  Chair.

         15                 Actually my question has been

         16  answered already. But I will just briefly comment

         17  that it seems a little bit silly that we have to

         18  have a hearing in the Council Chambers on toilet

         19  paper in schools. That doesn't take away from its

         20  necessity, unfortunately, so I do want to thank you

         21  for holding this hearing.

         22                 You know, when I was growing up in

         23  public school, starting with kindergarten all the

         24  way up through high school, and I've been a student

         25  in many of the public schools, back then I can tell
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          2  you there was never, ever any toilet paper. And not

          3  only that, there weren't any bathroom doors. There

          4  wasn't anything that could actually make me use the

          5  bathroom in the public school. That was quite some

          6  time ago, and whenever I do visit my schools, I

          7  always make a point of stopping in the bathroom.

          8                 It is a lot better now than it used

          9  to be when I was a kid going to school, but there

         10  still are instances where I, myself, see that

         11  particular bathrooms are not well stocked.

         12                 So, it is something that we need to

         13  address. It's not number one at the top of our

         14  priorities in terms of what we need to do to make

         15  our schools better. But it is a problem, and if you

         16  could just go back and talk with your staff at

         17  central and also get the word out to the individual

         18  schools that the kids should have these basic

         19  necessities of comfort, I think that's really what

         20  we're trying to get at today?

         21                 MR. OESTREICHER: I agree with you,

         22  Council Member. My experience in the public schools

         23  is much the same as yours. It is much better. We are

         24  not saying 100 percent of the schools and 100

         25  percent of the bathrooms are perfect, we never said
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          2  that, and there are issues and there are individual

          3  bathrooms that need to be worked on, and we get the

          4  information about that, and our survey did not show

          5  a hundred percent or perfect. Never said that was

          6  the case.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Thank you,

          8  Council Member. It would be helpful to us if when

          9  you make those visits, if your staff could share

         10  with us the locations where you find these problems.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Well, honestly,

         12  the other requests, I'm waiting for the other

         13  requests to be satisfied before I drill down to the

         14  toilet paper problem. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

         16  Recchia.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Good morning.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Good

         19  morning.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: If a parent

         21  complaints to the principal about not having toilet

         22  paper, okay, and she gets this complaint quite

         23  often, the principal, if I'm not mistaken, doesn't

         24  he or she rate the custodian?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

                                                            67

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: If there was

          3  this major problem in the building, okay, with the

          4  toilet paper or not having stalls, the principal has

          5  a recourse to put it on the rating sheet of the

          6  principal.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I would hope

          8  the principal wouldn't wait that long, but

          9  absolutely.

         10                 MR. OESTREICHER: Not only that,

         11  Council member. It's a specific line in the

         12  evaluation specifically about bathrooms. It's not

         13  even a general thing. It's specifically noted.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So you do

         15  have a specific line. Before coming here today, did

         16  anybody look at these ratings to see how many

         17  numbers, how many complaints there were actually?

         18                 MR. OESTREICHER: The average is

         19  almost, five is the highest rating and we're in the

         20  4.83. So, there are very few, and as I mentioned

         21  before you got here, Council member, I get calls

         22  from principals all the time about complaints about

         23  the services we provide. I have not gotten one about

         24  toilet paper and bathrooms as an issue. I get plenty

         25  complaints, but not about that one.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So there is a

          3  recourse, if the custodians are not putting the

          4  paper towels in, not putting the toilet paper in, if

          5  they're not putting -- there is a recourse.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Absolutely.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And if a

          8  parent was upset about this, they can go to the

          9  principal and say what are you doing about it? They

         10  should make this a note in the rating of the

         11  custodian, correct?

         12                 In addition, when certain districts

         13  order more than other certain districts, okay, and

         14  it could be that because the prior year that

         15  custodian or that district had more supplies?

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes. Yes.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: This doesn't

         18  take account of what schools are open at night?

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: It doesn't

         21  take in account what schools are open earlier than

         22  others?

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: It doesn't

         25  take account in the schools are open on Saturdays?
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: And it

          4  doesn't say about the supplies that you had for

          5  previous years.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Or it doesn't

          8  take into topic, you said you could order from other

          9  places.

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: So we can't

         12  really analyze this because there are so many

         13  outstanding factors.

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Now, when

         16  people make complaints, a lot of people, we have

         17  this 3-1-1.

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: I've got to

         20  tell you, it's not perfect, but it's something more

         21  than we ever had there before. How many complaints

         22  on 3-1-1 do you get about toilet paper, stalls,

         23  bathrooms?

         24                 MR. LANAGAN: On 3-1-1 complaints that

         25  get referred to maintenance of the bathrooms, I
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          2  haven't gotten a complaint on 3-1-1 funneled to me

          3  on toilet paper missing, but on broken bathrooms,

          4  broken urinals, or something like that, we've got

          5  about, I'd say between five and ten since July 1st.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Between five

          7  and ten. And you have how many schools?

          8                 MR. LANAGAN: Twelve-hundred.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Well,

         10  obviously the custodians and your administration,

         11  obviously were doing better in the past years,

         12  because, I mean, I would think if people were really

         13  upset, they would call 3-1-1, if they weren't

         14  getting satisfaction?

         15                 MR. LANAGAN: I agree.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I would hope

         17  so.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Okay. No

         19  further questions.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I apologize,

         21  but we must take a brief moment to vote on three

         22  very, very important bills. My colleagues, you have

         23  these on your desk but you've also got copies of

         24  them and I'm sure you're familiar with these topics.

         25  The Council has taken a tremendous lead on the issue
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          2  of school safety, and these are three bills that we

          3  have been discussing for quite some time.

          4                 Intro. 150-A requires the DOE, along

          5  with the Police Department, to study each school

          6  vis-a-vis security cameras and the need for video

          7  security cameras to include school safety.

          8                 Intro. 226-A requires the Department

          9  of Education to provide school safety data on crime,

         10  everything from disorderly behavior to felonies.

         11                 As I'm sure you know, this has been a

         12  source of frustration for the public that we have

         13  not been able to get access to this information. It

         14  also requires that this data be published on the

         15  school report cards, which this Committee has spent

         16  considerable time on.

         17                 And Intro. 322-A requires the DOE to

         18  give the Council a quarterly report that includes

         19  the number of uniformed and civilian personnel

         20  assigned to schools by the Police Department.

         21                 Before the clerk calls the roll, are

         22  there any comments or questions about those?

         23                 Council Member Liu.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Madam Chair, very

         25  briefly, I had thought that I had signed on as a
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          2  co-sponsor to all three bills. They only had me down

          3  as part of one, so I'd like to be added as a sponsor

          4  to all three bills.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Of course, if

          6  the clerk could note that.

          7                 Council Member Comrie.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I would like

          9  to do the same also. I want to thank Council Members

         10  Vann, Vallone, and yourself, for initiating these

         11  three bills and having the hearings on.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         13  much. Yes, Council Member Peter Vallone, our

         14  colleague, and the Counsel to the Committee, Ted

         15  Baecher, worked very, very hard on these bills, and

         16  we're most appreciative.

         17                 If there are no further questions or

         18  comments, if the clerk could call the roll.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Could I,

         20  Madam Chair?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Oh, I'm sorry,

         22  I didn't see you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: I note that

         24  Introduction 150 has been amended, and I believe the

         25  amendment improves the bill. I had some reservations
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          2  about the original print, the A print is fine, I'd

          3  like to be added as a sponsor of the A print. I am

          4  already a sponsor of the other two bills. So, if you

          5  would add me as a sponsor of 150-A, I would

          6  appreciate it.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Great. If the

          8  clerk could do so, that would be helpful.

          9                 Council Member Recchia.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Yes, for some

         11  reason my name was left off these three bills, I

         12  would like to also be a co-sponsor.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: If the clerk

         14  could call the roll.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK: Moskowitz.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: I vote aye

         17  on 150-A, 226-A and 322-A.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK: Council Member Comrie.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Aye on all.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: Jackson.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Aye on all.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK: Koppell.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Aye on all.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Liu.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER LIU: Yes on all.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK: Recchia.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA: Aye on all.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Yassky.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Aye on all.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of seven in

          7  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

          8  abstentions, all items are adopted. Council members,

          9  please sign the Committee reports. Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: If the record

         11  could be held open, that would be helpful. We have a

         12  number of colleagues who have simultaneous meetings.

         13                 Council Member Comrie.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you.

         15  Good morning, Superintendent Grimm, Mr. Oestreicher.

         16                 I'm troubled by this issue in that I

         17  think that there is a sense of dignity and a sense

         18  of self-respect and just an overall sense of how

         19  students are treated by how the bathroom policy is

         20  initiated by the school.

         21                 I know that personally this year my

         22  children were asked to bring sanitary wipes and hand

         23  towels and toilet paper as part of their back to

         24  school package. I know that many other children

         25  around the City were asked to do the same thing.
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          2                 I do tend to go into the schools in

          3  my district and look in the bathrooms. Overall,

          4  depending on the time of day and the condition of

          5  the bathroom, I can say that most times the

          6  bathrooms are, there are a lot of doors missing,

          7  there's a lot of things that I think demean

          8  children's self-esteem, when you have a public

          9  facility. And I know that dealing with children,

         10  especially in the middle school years, and high

         11  school, and somewhat with elementary school, the

         12  teasing from children, the incidents that happen in

         13  the bathroom often overflow into incidents that wind

         14  up into the principal's office.

         15                 I think that it requires that we

         16  really look at it, and I would agree that Council

         17  Member Moskowitz that the tone of the building and

         18  the conditions of the bathroom are kind of set and

         19  dictate curriculum. You tend to have incidents that

         20  flow from children that are letting loose their

         21  expressions or letting off some steam while they are

         22  in the bathroom. Open stalls tend to allow other

         23  types of incidents to escalate. You know, the

         24  inability of children to have some privacy in the

         25  bathroom allows incidents to escalate and I think we
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          2  need to be cognizant of that.

          3                 The overall conditions of the

          4  bathrooms, I know are under the custodian's purview

          5  and the principal's leadership, but I think that the

          6  principals need to listen more to the PTAs regarding

          7  the overall incidents and the overall cleanliness of

          8  the bathroom, vis-a-vis the tone and balance of the

          9  school.

         10                 So, I would hope that you take a

         11  strong look at that, that you do start to look at

         12  parental input from the PTA, as opposed to any 3-1-1

         13  calls. I think people are frustrated, they're not

         14  calling 3-1-1 on this issue, because they believe

         15  that it's an issue that is not being addressed to

         16  them satisfactorily. It's not being responded to in

         17  a way that they feel can be best done for them. And

         18  teachers clearly have decided that they want to

         19  protect their own students by asking them to bring

         20  in their own cleanliness supplies.

         21                 So, we need to take a real look at

         22  this situation. I'm not ignorant of the fact that

         23  children do want to act out, and the bathrooms tend

         24  to be the place where they go do that. So, you know,

         25  we need to figure out a way to do monitoring through
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          2  educational discipline of the children to how they

          3  act, to how they even monitor the amount of traffic,

          4  how we can look at the tone and discipline in

          5  schools.

          6                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: If I can

          7  just respond briefly. I'm not sure you were here

          8  earlier.

          9                 Certainly it is the Department's

         10  responsibility to supply the bathroom stock, the

         11  toilet paper, the soap and paper towels. No parent

         12  need feel that they have to supply that. Our schools

         13  are all stocked.

         14                 It is not to say that in some schools

         15  principals don't make decisions, sometimes for very

         16  good reasons, about not putting those supplies in

         17  the bathrooms themselves, and indeed that is a

         18  decision that's made at the school level by the

         19  principal, and certainly that principal needs to

         20  work with the parents in working that out.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: You know, for

         22  a principal to come to that decision means that

         23  there's a bad tone or a bad atmosphere in the

         24  school, and that needs to be addressed because if

         25  you create an opportunity where the children are
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          2  thought lesser of at every interaction with the

          3  school environment, then it doesn't allow them to go

          4  past that. It allows them to feel that the school is

          5  disrespecting them at every level, and we need to

          6  deal with that also. And I don't think that doing a

          7  radical piece about taking away toilet paper helps

          8  create a positive tone in the school. I think it

          9  only allows children to act out even more.

         10                 So, you know, I understand that

         11  that's been an old tradition, being that it happened

         12  since I was in PS 116, but I think it needs to stop.

         13  It really, in my mind, sets a problem environment

         14  for a school, and only lessens the ability of a

         15  principal to mitigate problems when a child feels

         16  that there is no area of activity that they can feel

         17  like an individual.

         18                 So, while I think we need to look at

         19  that. I think that, and I understand that you have a

         20  lot of things to look at, but I think that the

         21  entire school environment, the effect on a child's

         22  self-esteem is important, and the condition and the

         23  way that they're being treated in the bathrooms are

         24  important, and I think that the primary feedback

         25  from that cannot be 3-1-1, cannot be the custodians
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          2  or the principals. It has to be the feedback from

          3  the parents and the PTAs. Because I know for a fact

          4  they're frustrated. I know for a fact the teachers

          5  are frustrated, and they resorted to asking people

          6  to bring their own sanitary Wet-ones. You know once

          7  a month I'm replenishing the Wet-ones for my

          8  children so that they can wipe their hands back in

          9  the classroom, and they're in a school that is

         10  considered to be a decent school, as far as

         11  atmosphere. And I know that when I attend other

         12  schools, a lot of times I'm there, the bathrooms

         13  are, depending on the time of day, I'm there in the

         14  morning the bathrooms are not bad, I can say in 29.

         15  But then if you're there right after lunchtime,

         16  there's a lag, if a school is used 24 hours a day,

         17  then there's another lag. We need to look at the

         18  conditions and focus on the time when the children

         19  are there primarily, to make sure the buildings are

         20  in adequate condition.

         21                 I think that every bathroom needs a

         22  closed stall so that the children can have some

         23  privacy. I think it also lessons the negative

         24  interaction that can happen between children.

         25                 Thank you, Madam Chair. I'm being
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          2  brief this morning.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

          4  Yassky.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Thank you,

          6  Chair Moskowitz.

          7                 You know, when John Liu was talking

          8  about his experience, it was exactly like mine, so I

          9  just wanted to echo that. Certainly when I was in

         10  elementary school, no toilet paper, no doors on the

         11  stalls, and today it really is quite different.

         12                 I mean, I go, whenever I go to a

         13  school, and I'm going to estimate maybe 40, 50

         14  school visits for the three years I've been on this

         15  job, I always make a point to look in the bathrooms,

         16  and I have to say, I have yet to find one that is,

         17  you know, third world-looking disaster situation.

         18  Sometimes there's no toilet paper in the stall, or

         19  no soap. More commonly no soap in the dispenser. But

         20  based, and just for your, you know, your

         21  accumulation of data for my, quote, 45 visits, I

         22  have yet to have one that I felt I needed to call

         23  the Department about. And certainly when I find one,

         24  as you know, I will not hesitate to do so.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Good.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: So, having

          3  said that, I take very seriously the parents that

          4  we're going to be hearing from, the data that is

          5  before the Council. One thing that does trouble me

          6  are the number of teachers on the website where

          7  people can make donations that ask for toilet paper

          8  and paper towels, and the schools in which I gather

          9  it is the case, even principals do as a school-wide

         10  policy ask parents to make donations like this.

         11                 Is it because -- does that save money

         12  elsewhere in the budget?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Not when it

         14  comes to the toilet paper, paper towels and soap for

         15  the bathroom.

         16                 That is provided by the custodian. It

         17  does not come out of the principal's budget.

         18                 All of the schools are stocked.

         19  Parents need not be asked to supply these bathroom

         20  materials.

         21                 It doesn't mean that teachers don't

         22  ask for additional supplies for the classroom or

         23  things like that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Okay. So,

         25  paper towels and handywipes for a classroom could
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          2  save money in the budget. I'm guessing it's not, you

          3  know, tens of thousands of dollars for any school,

          4  let me get to that in a second. But just in terms of

          5  the bathroom, why would principals ever then ask for

          6  something like toilet paper?

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I do not

          8  know. I do not know.

          9                 And Marty was saying earlier a couple

         10  of weeks ago there was a newspaper report that

         11  identified three schools. Marty sent people out to

         12  check the stock. The stock was more than adequate.

         13  Marty himself spoke to the three principals, and the

         14  three principals didn't understand why.

         15                 MR. OESTREICHER: It didn't come from

         16  the principals. It came from the teachers there, so

         17  the principals were not -- in one case the principal

         18  said that there was extra facial tissue in a pre-k

         19  classroom. It wasn't bathroom supplies. And that's

         20  the only thing that he would have approved asking

         21  for, but not the basic bathroom supplies.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: But were there

         23  in fact teachers asking parents to bring in toilet

         24  paper in the other two schools?

         25                 MR. OESTREICHER: That was reported. I
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          2  never saw the document. I never saw the request that

          3  was being made.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Well, I think

          5  certainly you should, if you haven't already, I do

          6  think that principals should be instructed not to

          7  make those requests. I mean, if what you're saying

          8  is correct, they really should not do that because I

          9  think it does real harm to our effort to convey the

         10  message that the public schools are places that you

         11  want to send your parents. I mean, in my district, I

         12  think the schools in my district are considerably

         13  better managed today than they were a couple of

         14  years ago, and I think it's important for parents to

         15  understand that.

         16                 Let me ask you this, in terms of the

         17  oversight. Though she had some discussion of this

         18  with the chair about, if I understood you to say

         19  twice a day it is the responsibility of the

         20  custodian to check bathrooms to make sure that

         21  they're supplied?

         22                 MR. OESTREICHER: That's correct. At

         23  least twice a day. At some schools they may have to

         24  do it more often if the schools are more heavily

         25  used. They should be doing it at the beginning of
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          2  the day, and after the lunch periods.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: And I know the

          4  Chair asked about documentation, but I wasn't clear

          5  about this. Why not do, you know, like in restaurant

          6  bathrooms or off the hotel bathrooms in most public

          7  areas where they check, you know, there's a thing on

          8  the wall that says inspected such a time on such a

          9  date and the person initials it. So that if there

         10  is, if the principal discovers that there's a

         11  bathroom with no toilet paper in it at all, and they

         12  go back and they can go and see if it was inspected

         13  at the right time or not?

         14                 MR. OESTREICHER: It's an idea we will

         15  consider.

         16                 It's now built into the custodian's

         17  schedule or the building manager's schedule, an

         18  official schedule, you know, built right in there at

         19  certain times of the day you inspect, inspect and

         20  maybe putting something on the wall if it would stay

         21  in there, it might not be a bad idea and we'll

         22  certainly look into that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Ms. Grimm,

         24  what do you think about that idea?

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Let us look
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          2  at it.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER YASSKY: Yes, I would

          4  like you to look at it. Because I do think, you

          5  know, that this is not at all a frivolous topic. I

          6  mean, it's quite an important topic. It does send a

          7  very powerful message about how much respect we have

          8  for children and teachers. If the bathrooms are in

          9  poor condition, that sends a terrible message. You

         10  know, and the fact of just having that check system

         11  on the wall tells the students and the teachers and

         12  the parents who are in the school that we care and

         13  we want to make sure that they're being treated with

         14  respect.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

         18  Jackson.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         20                 Good morning.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Good

         22  morning.

         23                 MR. OESTREICHER: Good morning.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I can see the

         25  frustration in some of your responses and your
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          2  grimaces on your face with respect to some of the

          3  questions, but you know, I guess I can appreciate

          4  the tough questioning by our Chair Eva Moskowitz.

          5  She is a parent with a child in the school system. I

          6  am no longer a parent in the school system, so I can

          7  pass on the frustration to either and all, but I can

          8  clearly understand the frustration of children if

          9  they go into a stall and there's no toilet paper and

         10  if they have to go to the bathroom. That's even

         11  worse than the frustration that we're receiving here

         12  at this hearing.

         13                 Quite often in my district I

         14  communicate to people if you see a problem, report

         15  it. Don't wine about it, report it. And I report

         16  that in my newsletter about, if you see a light,

         17  street light that's out or a tress on a corner and

         18  what have you and so forth, people, you know, they

         19  dial 3-1-1. And from a system point of view, that

         20  goes to the appropriate agency and it has to be

         21  followed up.

         22                 And I heard a lot of back and forth,

         23  and the bottom line of what you said is that the

         24  schools are stocked.

         25                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Correct.

                                                            87

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But that

          3  really did not get to I guess the point that the

          4  Chair was talking about. One thing is that the

          5  schools may be stocked, but there's another issue

          6  if, in fact, bathrooms don't have appropriate soap

          7  and toilet paper and paper towels, and I agree with

          8  you, in any situation the facilities run out. So,

          9  it's appropriate maintenance to make sure

         10  periodically to make sure they are checked to make

         11  sure.

         12                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And in my

         14  household, not only do we have a supply in the

         15  closet, but even besides the closet we have an

         16  additional roll in each bathroom. We have two

         17  bathrooms. We have an additional roll in two

         18  bathrooms just in case the roll finishes you don't

         19  have to yell can you bring me some toilet paper,

         20  please. That there's a roll of toilet paper right

         21  within reach so you don't have to go through that

         22  process.

         23                 What do you recommend to parents, as

         24  far as the process to hopefully resolve this

         25  situation where parents are not constantly
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          2  complaining about there is not sufficient amount of

          3  toilet paper, paper towels and soap, or there is

          4  none at all? Do you recommend that they call,

          5  communicate with the teacher, call the principal,

          6  e-mail the principal or dial 3-1-1? What is the most

          7  appropriate way in order so that it can be followed

          8  up and checked to determine if that's the case?

          9                 Understanding, though, understanding

         10  before you respond, understanding that many teachers

         11  have frustrations about the lack of, and that going

         12  to the teacher may not be the best, I guess it is,

         13  you know, an avenue that people should go to, but

         14  knowing that the teachers have a lot of frustration

         15  too when it comes to that; what is the solution as

         16  far as problem resolution?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think the

         18  first thing a parent should do is speak to the

         19  principal because the principal is in charge of the

         20  building, and the custodian of the building manager

         21  is going to respond to what the principal tells him

         22  or her to do.

         23                 If that's not satisfactory, the

         24  parent should always feel free to dial 3-1-1, which

         25  is, of course, a very effective system that we have
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          2  in place in the City, and failing that, they can

          3  call my office.  If they really can't get

          4  satisfaction, I'd be happy to respond.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, if the

          6  parent is not able to go to the school, I guess they

          7  could send a note to the teacher or to pass on to

          8  the principal? Or I understand each principal has an

          9  e-mail address, is that correct?

         10                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That's

         11  correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Would it be

         13  appropriate for parents to e-mail the principal?

         14                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think a

         15  parent should feel free to do that. Another avenue

         16  would be, of course, to speak to the parent

         17  coordinator in the school.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         19                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: That new

         20  position that we created last year.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, the

         22  parent coordinator.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Which might

         24  be a more accessible person than a principal in a

         25  larger school.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

          3  Hopefully parents complaining about this will

          4  disappear as a result of this hearing. I hope so.

          5                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I certainly

          6  hope so, too, and I hope parents hear the message

          7  today, that there is no need for them to supply

          8  these bathroom items.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: While you

         10  were answering, responding to one of my colleague's

         11  questions, you know, I was reading material and it

         12  talked about, you know, the more children are in

         13  school, the better opportunities they have to learn

         14  and receive the material, and that having a clean

         15  environment, as far as the essentials, soap, water,

         16  paper towels and toilet paper, but also what about,

         17  for example, Lysol disinfectant? Do you order that

         18  for the school? Because you know, hands are the

         19  primary carrier of germs, and do we have Lysol

         20  spray, for example, if a teacher wanted to wipe down

         21  something or what have you and so forth, do we order

         22  that from a normal point of view? Or how does that

         23  -- or what type of cleaning agents are there in

         24  order so that if the teacher wanted to wipe down the

         25  desk or other material where children are constantly
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          2  putting their hands on?

          3                 MR. LANAGAN: The custodians are

          4  responsible to clean the school, and the custodian

          5  has all the necessary supplies to do that.

          6                 We really worry about letting

          7  teachers or parents bring in other items that don't

          8  have a proper MSDS or--

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But a can of

         10  Lysol disinfectant spray?

         11                 MR. LANAGAN: If a can of Lysol, if

         12  they talk to the principal or the custodian, it's

         13  not normally that the custodian would supply it to

         14  the teacher because he has cleaning staff that are

         15  trained to clean the building.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm just

         17  saying, I'm not really talking about the bathrooms,

         18  I'm talking about the classroom environment, you

         19  know, especially during the wintertime where, you

         20  know, colds are going around and what have you and

         21  so forth, and if the teacher wanted to clean the

         22  room once a week with a disinfectant so that a clean

         23  environment, as far as germ-free.

         24                 MR. LANAGAN: I have no problem that

         25  the teacher could talk to the custodian. I would
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          2  rather have the custodian clean that room.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, I beg

          4  the question then. Do the custodians clean the desk

          5  off and the chairs and the other hardware in the

          6  room once a week?

          7                 MR. LANAGAN: The custodians, based on

          8  their annual building plan with the principal will

          9  do all of that wiping down of furniture, if

         10  necessary, yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Really?

         12                 MR. LANAGAN: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         14                 MR. LANAGAN: Really.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: All right,

         16  thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Council Member

         18  Koppell.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Thank you.

         20                 Let me start off by saying that I

         21  think this is a very important subject, in some

         22  respects, curriculum and pedagogical subjects,

         23  because if a child goes to school and cannot feel

         24  comfortable going to the bathroom, they're not going

         25  to learn. So, the first predicate, if the child
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          2  spends the afternoon trying to avoid going to the

          3  bathroom, that's what they're going to be thinking

          4  of. Not math or reading, they're going to be

          5  thinking I've got to get home to go to the bathroom

          6  because I'm afraid.

          7                 So, safety in the bathroom and

          8  cleanliness in the bathroom are important, very

          9  important.

         10                 Those cameras aren't here today

         11  because this is an unimportant subject.  And I might

         12  point out that in the statement of Mr. Oestreicher,

         13  and I'm sorry I was late, I had a public hearing to

         14  attend in another location, but I note you say here

         15  in your statement, sir, in more than 90 percent of

         16  the schools we examine, all bathrooms had an

         17  adequate supply of toilet paper, paper towels and

         18  soap.

         19                 Now, you said you inspected a

         20  thousand of 1,200 buildings, let's give you more

         21  than 90 percent. That means more than 100 buildings

         22  there was not an adequate supply. That's

         23  unacceptable.

         24                 If I go to a restaurant and they have

         25  an inadequate supply of toilet paper and soap in the
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          2  restroom, I never go there again.

          3                 Does that suggest that perhaps we

          4  ought to close maybe 80 schools down because they

          5  don't have an adequate supply? It is unacceptable

          6  that any school doesn't have an adequate supply of

          7  toilet paper and towels and soap. Unacceptable.

          8  Because the one school that my child goes to doesn't

          9  care whether the 99 schools have adequate soap and

         10  toilet paper and towels. It's that one school.

         11                 So, when you learn that 80 of the

         12  1,000 schools don't have an adequate supply, then

         13  you should say to yourself, we're not doing the

         14  proper job, we've got to do something about that.

         15                 Not to come here and basically

         16  indicating in your statement that everything is okay

         17  because 90 percent of the schools are okay. I don't

         18  know whether that's true or not. But even if it is

         19  true, it's a disgrace, just a disgrace.

         20                 Now, if you want to say something

         21  fine, then I'll have some other questions.

         22                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think it

         23  is unacceptable for one container to be empty, to

         24  not have soap or not have paper towels. But just to

         25  be clear, it was not that 100 schools didn't have
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          2  the supplies. It was that in some number of schools

          3  there was a bathroom that didn't, wasn't fully

          4  stocked with soap, paper towels and toilet paper.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, okay,

          6  maybe that's so.

          7                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: And that is

          8  not acceptable either. I mean --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay. Well,

         10  we had a system when I was Chairman of School Board

         11  10 where we had a monthly report of a number of

         12  different indicia and one of those indicia was the

         13  cleanliness and supplies of the bathrooms. It was a

         14  monthly report done by a Committee which included

         15  parent representative and the principal and the

         16  staff, and we had a report every month.

         17                 Do you have that kind of a system to

         18  give you a monthly report in each school of the

         19  condition of the bathrooms?

         20                 MR. OESTREICHER: No.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, I would

         22  suggest that that sort of system ought to be

         23  instituted and instituted immediately. Because this

         24  is, as I indicated to begin with, an extremely

         25  important project.
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          2                 The other problem is, as we know, it

          3  is difficult to keep a bathroom stocked, especially

          4  with kids who do, as my colleague Comrie pointed

          5  out, act out. And I suspect, though do not know,

          6  that one of the reasons that teachers want to have

          7  these supplies in the classroom, is that where the

          8  bathroom gets unstocked, perhaps because kids are

          9  throwing the towels around, or throwing the bathroom

         10  tissue around, that they want to be able to say to

         11  their child, well, if you need this, you can take

         12  it, your little supply from the classroom and take

         13  it with you to the bathroom.

         14                 And the question I have is, are the

         15  custodians instructed to provide supplies to

         16  classroom teachers who might need it in the

         17  classroom?

         18                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: The decision

         19  is made at the school level by the principal. In

         20  some cases the principals instruct the custodians

         21  not to stock the bathroom.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: The

         23  classrooms I'm talking about.

         24                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I know. But

         25  in a school where a principal makes the decision to
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          2  instruct the custodian not to stop the bathroom, the

          3  principal has to make sure there is an alternative

          4  way for the children to have the soap and have the

          5  paper towels and what have you available to them.

          6  And, so, however that principal wants to work it out

          7  with the custodian, that's where it would be worked

          8  out.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, what

         10  about suggesting as a Citywide policy that where

         11  teachers request a supply in the classroom, the

         12  custodian should give that to them?

         13                 MR. OESTREICHER: If that's the policy

         14  of the school and the principal tells the custodian

         15  I want you to start supplying the towels to the

         16  classroom, the custodian will supply the towels to

         17  the classroom.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: They will now

         19  do that?

         20                 MR. OESTREICHER: If the principal

         21  instructs him to do so.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: They will now

         23  do that?

         24                 MR. OESTREICHER: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Well, what
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          2  I'm suggesting to you is that if the teachers are

          3  asking the kids to bring these supplies to school, I

          4  suspect they're asking the kids to bring them, not

          5  to take them from the classroom into the bathroom. I

          6  doubt that. I suspect they're asking the kids to

          7  bring them so that they have a supply in their room

          8  to provide the child with those supplies when the

          9  bathroom runs out, whether it runs out because the

         10  custodian is at fault or it runs out because kids

         11  are throwing the stuff around, as I indicated.

         12                 So, I think that the solution to

         13  this, or one solution to the idea of parents sending

         14  in the supplies is to make a Citywide policy,

         15  custodians should provide teachers, at least

         16  teachers who ask them with an adequate supply of

         17  these items so that they run out in the bathroom,

         18  they can therefore be given to the child by the

         19  classroom teacher; is that a good idea or a bad

         20  idea?

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I think that

         22  that is in place if it is the principal who is

         23  making the decision that that's the alternative

         24  means of providing the materials.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: And are the
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          2  principals told, is there any circular you have that

          3  tells principals that they can make that decision?

          4                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Principals

          5  make that decision all the time. We know there are

          6  schools where custodians are not placing the

          7  material in the bathroom at the instruction of the

          8  principal.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: We also know,

         10  we know that there are numerous examples that have

         11  been determined by the Committee and the Committee

         12  staff and that I know of and have heard of, and the

         13  teachers have testified to in recent times, where

         14  parents are being asked to bring this in.

         15                 Now, you have repeatedly said parents

         16  should not be asked to bring these in. But I go back

         17  to the point that perhaps what ought to be made more

         18  clear to each principal, especially a principal in a

         19  school where the parents are being asked by the

         20  teachers to bring this in, that they should instruct

         21  the custodian to make these supplies available to

         22  the classroom teachers.

         23                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: We will

         24  follow up on that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER KOPPELL: Okay.
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          2                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I want to

          4  thank you very much for your testimony. I will just

          5  say by way of conclusion that I have to say, Deputy

          6  Chancellor, that I'm disappointed when you said two

          7  minutes ago that you hope parents will conclude as a

          8  result of this hearing that they don't need to bring

          9  in no supplies. I just find that very disappointing.

         10  You're not really in a position to make that

         11  recommendation, since we don't know, you don't know

         12  that bathrooms are indeed regularly supplied. What

         13  you do know is that you made one spot check in the

         14  month of mid-October and that you found that in that

         15  instance 90 percent of the schools had been well

         16  stocked.

         17                 And there's a rather simple way, and

         18  I would like to urge you to get at this information.

         19  I recommend that you send an e-mail to the PTA

         20  president of all three, 1,356 schools and ask them

         21  to reach out to their members and find out what is

         22  the state of affairs. You ultimately have to go to

         23  the parents and consumers of this system to know

         24  what is going on. And while school employees have

         25  valuable information, if they are the only source of
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          2  your information, and your information is spotty at

          3  best from them, you only have a portion of the

          4  picture, and I would urge you to immediately contact

          5  PTA presidents and ask them to contact their members

          6  to understand exactly what kind of problem, the

          7  magnitude and nature of the problem that you have on

          8  your hands.

          9                 I have a very different message for

         10  parents. It's that we have to stop tolerating a

         11  substandard system and make our voices heard,

         12  obviously not only on the issue of toilet paper, but

         13  on every aspect of the system, and we have to make

         14  sure that from lower management to upper management,

         15  our realities as parents and the realities of our

         16  kids are not denied by an educational bureaucracy.

         17                 Council Member Vann, did you have a

         18  comment or a question? I'm sorry, I didn't mean to

         19  --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: No. Thank you,

         21  Madam Chair. Originally I wasn't going to comment, I

         22  was going to penalize myself for being late. I

         23  penalize myself. I do apologize, Deputy Chancellor,

         24  and others, for being late. But I did want to make

         25  one brief comment.
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          2                 You know, first I want to commend

          3  you, Madam Chair. This is a very important hearing.

          4  Beyond the obvious, it opens up people's thinking in

          5  terms about what is necessary in order for their

          6  schools to be good for kids to learn. Because there

          7  is so much focus on, you know, are they reading, are

          8  they doing their math and so on and so forth, how

          9  are they doing on the test, and sometimes we

         10  overlook the obvious, that certain conditions must

         11  exist in schools for them to operate maximally and

         12  for our kids to learn maximally, and so it opens up

         13  people's thinking, well, yes, what's happening? Is

         14  it clean? Is it safe? How is the environment? These

         15  things are, quote, equally important, if you will,

         16  because if they're not present, it's not going to

         17  happen.

         18                 And so I think, you know, focusing on

         19  cleanliness, which is next to Godliness, as well, is

         20  very, very important. Okay, is it clean? What else

         21  is wrong with my school? Is it safe? You know,

         22  what's the environment like in our schools? So,

         23  we're focusing on those other things that are very

         24  important in the process, and you ought to be

         25  commended for that.
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          2                 Just one question, Deputy Chancellor,

          3  if I might? If there are citizens in a community,

          4  may be PTA, may be other than PTA, who are

          5  interested in visiting their schools and actually

          6  examining, seeing what's happening in the building,

          7  is that permissible? Is there any particular changes

          8  they have to go through? Do they have ID? Do they

          9  have interest in the school? Interest in the

         10  community? Do they want to see the status of their

         11  school buildings? What is the process for that to

         12  happen?

         13                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: They should

         14  contact the principal.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay. The

         16  principal can say yes, no?

         17                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Yes. The

         18  principal is in charge of his or her building.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VANN: Okay. All right,

         20  thank you.

         21                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Thank you.

         22                 If I could just in conclusion say

         23  that we welcome comments always from our parents,

         24  not only on this topic but all topics having to do

         25  with our schools and our children, and we look
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          2  forward to the data that you're going to provide us.

          3  Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you. And

          5  are you going to reach out to the PTA presidents on

          6  this topic or any other e-mail addresses you have?

          7  I'm sure since you get a magnitude of complaints,

          8  some by e-mail, not all, that you could survey

          9  parents as well on this topic. Is that something

         10  that --

         11                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: I will work

         12  with our parent office to see what the best approach

         13  is.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Good. The

         15  Committee would welcome any copies of correspondence

         16  on the Department's effort to reach out to parents

         17  directly and find out from them whether there is

         18  adequate soap, paper towels and toilet paper.

         19                 Thank you.

         20                 DEPUTY CHANCELLOR GRIMM: Thank you.

         21  Bye-bye.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We're going to

         23  take a five-minute break and then I would like to

         24  ask, we're going to hear from a number of parents,

         25  if Melvyn Meer, Natalie Nicosia, Deirdre Frier-Kemp,
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          2  Sharon Williams, Julian Rubenstein and Margaret

          3  Falzon, could come up and sit in the front row here,

          4  we will hear from the parents. Thank you.

          5                 (Recess taken.)

          6                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Melvyn Meer,

          7  Natalie Nicosia, Deirdre Frier-Kemp, Sharon

          8  Williams, Julian Rubenstein, and Margaret Falzon, I

          9  appreciate very much your taking time out of your

         10  busy schedules to be here. I know that it requires

         11  time and interest and on behalf of all New York City

         12  parents, and their kids, we thank you very, very

         13  much for being here.

         14                 Why don't we begin in the order in

         15  which you were called, and you can be brief and to

         16  the point, we would very much appreciate it.

         17                 Thank you. Melvyn Meer, welcome.

         18                 MR. MEER: Thank you, Chairman

         19  Moskowitz and members of the Committee. My name is

         20  Melvyn Meer. I live in Bayside in Queens, and am a

         21  parent of two children in elementary school there.

         22                 I am also Chair of the Queens

         23  Community Board 11 Education Committee. I am here

         24  speaking only as a parent.

         25                 Recent newspaper stories seem to
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          2  indicate that the Department of Education is

          3  incapable of sufficient inspection to school

          4  bathrooms.

          5                 This is an area where parents can

          6  really help, and as I shall recommend that they be

          7  empowered to do that.

          8                 Let me first describe my own

          9  experience at my children's school in Bayside. About

         10  three weeks ago at about 3:00 p.m. while children

         11  enjoyed after school play in the school yard, I took

         12  my five-year old son to the bathroom in his school,

         13  the closest one to the building entrance. It had

         14  four stalls. The first two stalls had neither toilet

         15  paper, nor a toilet paper holder in them. The other

         16  two stalls had toilet paper holders too high to be

         17  reached while seated by my son. He's five years old.

         18  I helped him do his business. No doubt the toilet

         19  paper receptacles in the first two stalls had not

         20  been there for some time.

         21                 DOE spokeswoman Margy Feinberg is

         22  quoted in this morning's paper as saying it is the

         23  responsibility of the custodian to check bathrooms

         24  twice a day to make sure they have all the

         25  necessities that are required, and you heard similar
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          2  testimony this morning.

          3                 Obviously, these people speak only

          4  theoretically, and they are unaware of what is

          5  actually going on in schools. In any event, I

          6  reported to the principal, and by the end of the

          7  day, the toilet paper and hardware was placed in

          8  these two stalls.

          9                 However, the hardware installed by

         10  the custodian is not fit for children, nor perhaps

         11  for anyone. It consists of a two-inch-wide metal bar

         12  through the toilet paper roll. The bar is fixed in

         13  place, it doesn't turn. The paper roll is distorted

         14  by the width of the bar and the paper doesn't turn.

         15                 Children as young as four and a half

         16  years old must unwrap the paper from the fixed

         17  rolls. My five year old is of at least average

         18  intelligence, and he found it to be an impossible

         19  task.

         20                 The actual roll looks much worse than

         21  this, it's gray metal, but I made this mock-up to

         22  show you how difficult and virtually impossible it

         23  is for a five-year-old, and there are children in

         24  the school as young as four and a half, to actually

         25  get the paper off the roll. It's hardest when it's

                                                            108

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  full, it's also very hard when there's very little

          3  on it because you get very little of each roll.

          4                 In my opinion, this represents an

          5  unsanitary condition, and children will not do what

          6  needs to be done.

          7                 In fact, when I go there the next

          8  day, 24 hours later, I found that the two new rolls

          9  installed in that manner the day before was yet

         10  unstarted, the end remaining glued to the rest of

         11  the roll. I couldn't start them myself until I took

         12  out my pen knife to actually slit them. It would

         13  have been, and no doubt was, impossible for the

         14  children. The custodian who installed the roll

         15  didn't even start the roll for these young children.

         16  No doubt he wouldn't have to change them very often.

         17                 The reason given for these

         18  unfortunate 19th Century tissue receptacles is that

         19  children sometimes play with the toilet paper and

         20  that it cannot be permitted to roll freely. However,

         21  the humane solution, or a human solution, is found

         22  in the third stall in that same bathroom. That is a

         23  toilet paper receptacle that has some friction and

         24  turns only slowly and from which the roll cannot be

         25  removed from the children and from which they cannot
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          2  take too much paper too quickly.

          3                 As a matter of fact, Council Member

          4  Jackson made the best suggestion of all, because we

          5  can in the 21st Century adopt a 20th Century

          6  measure, which is to put up fixtures that actually

          7  contain two rolls. The rolls cannot be taken out by

          8  the children, they cannot be abused, and when the

          9  first roll is finished, the second roll drops down.

         10  Then there's no reason ever to have an empty roll of

         11  toilet paper in the bathroom. Because if the roll

         12  has dropped down, you put a new roll up top, and

         13  you're back to two rolls again.

         14                 Many of you have seen these things in

         15  commercial places. Why the Board of Education

         16  continues to use these fixtures when there are good

         17  alternatives available is fine. As a worst case

         18  scenario consider the following: Children may use

         19  too little of the toilet paper, not be able to wash

         20  hands, because there are no towels in the bathroom,

         21  and then go on to do what they do. And one of the

         22  things they do is exchange candy.

         23                 Excuse me, a father, for having to

         24  say that our children are not animals, and that

         25  their basic needs should be treated with respect.
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          2  Imagine what the effect is as more than one Council

          3  Member has pointed out, on the self-esteem of a

          4  small child who is prevented from taking proper care

          5  of him or herself.

          6                 I brought all of this to the

          7  attention of the principal. I also brought it to the

          8  attention of Region 3 Manager of Building Services,

          9  and the Department's Director of Facilities

         10  Management. When I described the situation to them

         11  on the phone, both of these gentlemen acknowledged

         12  to me that these fixtures were unnecessarily harsh

         13  and unfit for young children, and they would do

         14  something about it.

         15                 However, I was later told by the

         16  Regional Manager that since the principal said the

         17  fixtures were okay, he could or would do nothing

         18  about it.

         19                 I have since brought this entire

         20  matter to the attention of Dr. Roger Platt,

         21  Assistant Commissioner of Health and Director of the

         22  Office of Student Health, who should have been here,

         23  by the way, with copies to my regional and district

         24  superintendents.

         25                 Dr. Platt responded in writing that I
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          2  completely agree that young students must have

          3  access to a functional toilet paper receptacle when

          4  they use the bathroom. Merely these are issues that

          5  need to be resolved locally, but as yet, nothing has

          6  happened. In my opinion, these barbaric fixtures

          7  should be done away with in the elementary school at

          8  least.

          9                 In conclusion, recent newspaper

         10  stories reveal that the Department of Education is

         11  incapable of making sufficient inspections of the

         12  schools' sanitary facilities.

         13                 I recommend, therefore, that the

         14  parents of any child in a school be empowered by the

         15  Department of Education to make an unannounced visit

         16  to his or her child's school and to record the

         17  condition of the bathrooms. This can be done at a

         18  time and in a manner that causes no disruption to

         19  the functioning of a school. The parent can then

         20  make the condition of the bathrooms available to the

         21  Departmental and elected officials.

         22                 These facilities are for our

         23  children, and we should have the right to see that

         24  they are functioning properly. And I thank you very

         25  much for your patience and listening to my
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          2  testimony.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

          4                 We're going to hear from all the

          5  parents and then we'll have questions.

          6                 Natalie Nicosia.

          7                 MS. NICOSIA: Hi. I'm a parent of two

          8  children at PS 130 in District 2, and I'm here

          9  because my children no longer consistently wash

         10  their hands. Children need to be taught to wash

         11  their hands, and when the supplies are not

         12  available, they learn not to wash their hands, and I

         13  don't mind including paper towels and tissues on my

         14  school year list of things to send in, but when

         15  they're not supplied on a consistent basis,

         16  especially for young children, children learn not to

         17  wash their hands.

         18                 I put in my children's lunch box

         19  individual wash-ups hoping that they'll use them,

         20  and they use them most of the time, but

         21  unfortunately we've already missed school days to

         22  colds and flus.

         23                 We're in the process of visiting

         24  middle schools, and what concerns me is that I've

         25  been to middle schools that don't have running water
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          2  in the bathrooms. That's what I have to say.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you. I

          4  know we'll have some questions.

          5                 Deirdre Frier-Kemp, thank you for

          6  being here.

          7                 MS. FRIER-KEMP: Thank you. I'm a

          8  parent of a fifth grader of PS 116 in District 2.

          9  I'm also a member of Executive PTA and a member of

         10  the School Leadership Team.

         11                 Our school is adequately stocked and

         12  the bathrooms are adequately stocked as well. We

         13  have some children who are disruptive and they do

         14  use the toilet paper, paper towels and soap, for

         15  reasons other than why they're there.

         16                 Our problems are really mechanical.

         17  The fixtures in our bathroom facilities have been

         18  there since 1925, so we are in dire need of major

         19  renovation. The flushers, we have a big problem with

         20  the flushers. It's very difficult for the little

         21  ones, and the adults, as well, to flush. And, so,

         22  since the children can't flush the toilets, the

         23  toilets get stopped with toilet paper. We have daily

         24  flooding every day.

         25                 I would like to piggyback on what Mr.
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          2  Meer said about the toilet paper. It really is

          3  difficult to pull off, but the kids do manage to

          4  throw the paper towels into the toilet and stop it

          5  up, but I was quite surprised to hear earlier that

          6  District 2 spent $90 million on school supplies --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thousand.

          8                 MS. FRIER-KEMP: Thousand. I'm sorry.

          9  Did I say million?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Yes.

         11                 MS. FRIER-KEMP: Wow.

         12                 But our school is adequately stocked.

         13                 We don't have locks on the bathrooms

         14  which is an issue, on the stalls, that's a big

         15  concern. Our custodians do stock the bathrooms twice

         16  a day, and I was quite surprised to see that two of

         17  the parents from our schools say that there is no

         18  soap and paper towels or paper towels. They may come

         19  into the bathroom at a time when the children have

         20  destroyed all of the paper towels or soaps, but I

         21  know that the custodians do stock the bathrooms

         22  twice a day, and my son, by sixth period refuses to

         23  use the bathroom because it's disgusting with the

         24  children not being able to flush the toilet.

         25                 So, that's all I have to say.
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          2                 MS. WILLIAMS: Hi. My name is Sharon

          3  Williams. I'm a parent of a high school, School for

          4  the Physical City in Manhattan. I am also on the

          5  School Leadership Team, and I'm on the Executive

          6  Board and am Recording Secretary.

          7                 And when I was called to see if I

          8  wanted to come here to speak, I said I would do it

          9  on behalf of the other parents who weren't able to

         10  come.

         11                 The biggest problem, I know our

         12  custodians are there, they are stacked. They are

         13  stacking the bathrooms that I use when I go there

         14  for meetings, but the problem is there are stalls,

         15  there are a couple of stalls in the bathroom

         16  downstairs on the eighth floor, which we don't have

         17  a lock on them. And it's because the schools also

         18  use that for learning annex, and I think there's

         19  some other usage of adult education.

         20                 Also, a couple of parents who are on

         21  the Board with me said their children do not go to

         22  the bathroom at all. They wait until they get home.

         23  So when that gentleman said, you know, kids have to

         24  focus on I can't wait to get home, I can't wait to

         25  get home, so they can actually go to the bathroom.
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          2                 My son had been late in the mornings

          3  because he would not go to the bathroom at school.

          4  He would make sure that he went, he would run back

          5  in the house, I've got to go to the bathroom one

          6  more time because he didn't want to go in. And it's

          7  not because the custodial staff is not doing their

          8  job, it's just that children, you know, children are

          9  going to be children. So, you are going to have kids

         10  who are not going to be as neat. And unless a

         11  custodian comes in every hour, like they do an

         12  office building, where you have like a person who is

         13  actually there manning the stall, or manning the

         14  bathroom, it's kind of hard and it gets kind of

         15  unkempt.

         16                 So, I just wanted to say if there's

         17  something that can be done to ensure that they can

         18  get in there more often and there is some kind of

         19  way to safeguard materials, like make sure there is

         20  soap in there, because often times, I think it's

         21  better this year, but my son said, I asked him

         22  yesterday and he said, yeah, there's paper this

         23  week, and there's soap this week. So, it gets there

         24  but it seems like there should be some kind of a

         25  check and balance system to make sure that it's
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          2  there more often than not. And I don't know what it

          3  can be, but hopefully there's something.

          4                 MS. FALZON: Hi. I'm Margaret Falzon.

          5  I have two girls in Jackson Heights Queens School.

          6                 I'm here today to talk about mainly

          7  the issue with no soap and no paper towels. I can

          8  honestly say as of Friday, after the media frenzy

          9  and the newspaper getting a hold of this, that there

         10  was paper towels, there was soap in the bathroom,

         11  but I can't help but to question how long it's going

         12  to be there.

         13                 Once this boils over, is it still

         14  going to remain there?

         15                 Going through this, I had a chance to

         16  talk to several parents, and a couple parents I

         17  spoke to were past PA members. They told me, they

         18  brought it up at PA member board, Executive Board

         19  meetings. They brought it up at the regular PA

         20  meeting. But unfortunately it seems like it was just

         21  swept under the rug. Nothing was done about it.

         22                 So, it disturbs me when a principal

         23  says why didn't you come to me, I don't understand

         24  why nothing was brought back to him.

         25                 Another thing that comes to mind is,
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          2  many people have said about their concerns, floods,

          3  of the children taking toilet paper and stuffing the

          4  toilet, taking the paper towels, wasting them and

          5  putting them in the sink. Another thing I have heard

          6  of why it's not there, because the children empty

          7  out the soap dispensers all the time. I'm not going

          8  to lie, these are children, and things like this do

          9  happen, but is the solution not having the supplies

         10  there? I have to say no.

         11                 I actually came up with two

         12  solutions. One, which my school is presently doing,

         13  which I think is a great solution. They have a

         14  basket in each room. They have at the doorway it has

         15  the paper towels in it. So, in other words, all the

         16  children have to do, they go to the bathroom, they

         17  use the soap, they wash their hands, they come back,

         18  they dry their hands.

         19                 But I have an even better solution

         20  than that, which I actually heard from a parent and

         21  I thought it was fabulous; and that is, why not get

         22  sanitizer soap dispensers put in. What I'm talking

         23  about, one type is Purrell, which a lot of people

         24  are familiar with.

         25                 What they can do is insert those and
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          2  not only would we be saving money on paper towels,

          3  but we also would be saving a lot of trees, when you

          4  think about it.

          5                 I know the issue would come up,

          6  putting this in, is that, again, the children are

          7  going to take it and waste it.

          8                 So, why not put it in the classroom?

          9  If they're worried about drips, put a garbage can

         10  underneath it. Again, the children can go to the

         11  bathroom, use the bathroom normally, then come, use

         12  the Purrell, that's being right at the door, wash

         13  their hands, and you don't even have to worry about

         14  paper towels. The solution would be solved.

         15                 Another thing I would like to mention

         16  is, since I have done media coverage and people have

         17  seen me, and I have spoke to other parents, I was

         18  shocked to find out how many parents in New York

         19  City Board of Ed schools actually share the same

         20  problems as me.

         21                 What I want to close this on is

         22  something ironic I actually thought of while we were

         23  sitting here and we were hearing about the bathrooms

         24  and we were hearing how there's no locks on the

         25  bathroom and everything. I don't know how many of
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          2  you saw the Channel 4 coverage on this situation,

          3  but the Department of Ed went up there and they

          4  showed a bathroom perfectly stocked. There was one

          5  minor thing that they didn't think people would

          6  notice, but when I took a good look at that tape,

          7  there was no lock on that bathroom.

          8                 So, even though the situation of

          9  paper towels and soap and toilet paper may be

         10  solved, there's other issues, too, and that is the

         11  locks on the bathroom.

         12                 Every child should be able to lock

         13  their bathroom when they go to the toilet.

         14  Unfortunately, that is another way which paper

         15  towels and toilet paper are being wasted. Children

         16  have to take a ball. You probably remember doing

         17  that as a child. I remember doing that as a child.

         18  You've got to stuff it in the door so they can keep

         19  it locked. That shouldn't have to happen at all.

         20                 These are our children and they

         21  should have the proper facilities. And they should

         22  have the proper supplies needed in their school to

         23  use the bathrooms.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.
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          2                 We're going to hear from Delores

          3  Allen and Carol Stern Larosa can come up? Did you

          4  want to say a few words? Delores and Valerie Allen

          5  and Carol M. Stern.

          6                 Don't go away, we're just adding two

          7  parents.

          8                 If I could ask you to just state your

          9  name for the record.

         10                 MS. ALLEN: My name is Delores Allen,

         11  and I am a great grandmother of two twin girls that

         12  go to PS 184, the Newport School in Brooklyn.

         13                 I guess, like the other parents here

         14  that have spoken before me, I think I'm a little bit

         15  more appalled as to what I found with toilet paper,

         16  soap and paper towels in our schools. I'm here today

         17  with toilet paper around my neck on a string,

         18  because this is the way that my great grandchildren

         19  had to go to the bathroom. This is degrading to

         20  five-year-old and six-year-old children. They should

         21  never have to use and take toilet paper like this to

         22  the bathroom.

         23                 I don't blame the teacher because the

         24  teacher was trying to help the situation, by at

         25  least giving the children toilet paper to use while
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          2  they went to the bathroom.

          3                 When I approached the custodians

          4  about it, they told me the same thing similar -

          5  well, the children take the toilet paper and put it

          6  in the toilet and they wet it up or they wet it and

          7  they throw it up on the ceiling or on the walls. And

          8  I said to the custodian, I said, well, I'm a retired

          9  great grandparent here, I am willing to volunteer to

         10  come into this school every day and go through all

         11  of the girls' bathrooms, I can tell you, you have

         12  parents, you have a PTA, there's no reason why the

         13  bathrooms, our bathrooms, the children's bathrooms

         14  should have paper thrown up on the wall or the

         15  toilet stopped up because they have done this.

         16                 So, if we get enough parents, gets

         17  some fathers and some mothers, we can take the girls

         18  bathroom, take the boys bathroom and we can kind of

         19  monitor the bathrooms. You can't do that. You can't

         20  do that unless you become a learner leader.

         21                 I don't have a problem with that

         22  either, so I signed up a year and a half ago to

         23  became a learner leader and I never heard anything

         24  more about it.

         25                 So, it's they want parents to be

                                                            123

          1  COMMITTEE ON EDUCATION

          2  concerned about our schools, or they don't want us

          3  to be concerned.

          4                 I feel personally that when you're a

          5  parent and you start to open your mouth and you

          6  start to complain about things that are wrong within

          7  our schools, they shut you put by pushing you aside.

          8                 Well, I'm a great grandparent here

          9  and I'm not going to shut up and I am going to be

         10  heard. There's a fifth generation of women who have

         11  come through this New York City school system, and

         12  the way I see it right now, this is the worst that

         13  it has ever been. And this is supposed to be the

         14  best of times.

         15                 Well, I don't think so, and I'm

         16  hoping today that this will be a start. I am

         17  appealing to the panel to help get all of these

         18  schools with all of these children back to the right

         19  foot. Because I'm not just talking about my

         20  children. Because all of them are my children. So,

         21  please, we need the help from everyone here and more

         22  to do this. We can't do it by ourselves. I thank

         23  you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: We thank you.

         25                 MS. McINTYRE: My name is Valerie
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          2  McIntyre. I am the great grand aunt to girls that

          3  Delores Allen was speaking of. And I think that our

          4  being here today is the end result of all the

          5  frustrations that we've had to deal with in trying

          6  to rectify wrongs within the school system and

          7  within this particular school.

          8                 We've worked very hard, my sister in

          9  particular, with these two darling girls. They came

         10  into pre-k reading. They are bright, they are

         11  bubbling, they are alive, and when they come home

         12  and say that they couldn't go to the bathroom, or

         13  that they had to go to the bathroom with this around

         14  their neck, it made us both sick to our stomachs.

         15                 I don't know how many of you in here

         16  have children, but we all think that our children,

         17  or our particular child that we have, is God's gift.

         18  My sister and I believe that our girls are God's

         19  gift to us. And we don't believe that this is the

         20  way God's gift should be treated in school. This is

         21  not the way that our children who learn how to

         22  respect each other -- it seems to me that we have

         23  lost sight of a lot of things in this City in the

         24  education of our children. I am willing to start

         25  with this, but there are many more battles that have
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          2  to be addressed here.

          3                 I don't know how anyone, and I

          4  listened to the panel that you had here before, I

          5  don't know how anyone could say to you, well, we

          6  don't know why, or we don't have any numbers.

          7                 I am a retired teacher. I worked 32

          8  years in this system, and if I ever said to my boss,

          9  well, I don't have the numbers on that particular

         10  child, I can assure you that I would not have had a

         11  job.

         12                 So, I am asking for everyone else in

         13  this system to be as accountable as I was. There is

         14  no way that I would have allowed a child in my room

         15  to go with this around their neck to the bathroom. I

         16  just wouldn't have done it.

         17                 I think this is the most dehumanizing

         18  thing that I've looked at in the system. I want to

         19  say to all of you, though, this is not just a

         20  problem for the children's bathroom, because when I

         21  was a teacher, not so long ago, we had toilet paper

         22  and paper towels up until about the end of April,

         23  and then things became scarce.

         24                 I know what it is like to walk into a

         25  bathroom that doesn't have toilet paper. I know what
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          2  it's like to try to carry extra things with me to a

          3  bathroom so that I can do what I have to do, come

          4  out and wash my hands, and go back to my children in

          5  a correct way.

          6                 I have one question for this panel

          7  here, you were wonderful; however, the problem I

          8  have with holding soap in a room, and this is from a

          9  teacher's perspective, those children who don't wash

         10  their hands in the bathroom put their hands on

         11  everything from the bathroom back to the classroom.

         12  And what happens then is no answer to this problem,

         13  except the bathroom stalls must be stocked with

         14  toilet paper. That's the bottom line. And soap, and

         15  paper towels. And Dear God, if we cannot do that,

         16  then something is wrong with us, as adults, as a

         17  society, as New Yorkers, how ever you want to put

         18  it, something is wrong with us.

         19                 I want to thank you so much, Council

         20  Member Moskowitz. I want to thank you. I couldn't

         21  agree with you more. You are a tough lady, but you

         22  are so right that it's impossible to not be on your

         23  side, because you're on our side.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 MS. STERN LAROSA: Thanks. My name is

          3  Carol Stern Larosa. I am the President of the PTA in

          4  PS 41 elementary school in Bayside, Queens, and the

          5  parent of two children attending that school.

          6                 I think everything the parents have

          7  said is not arguable. We all want the same things,

          8  and I wish that I could have you back in the schools

          9  teaching my children. But I do want to say that I do

         10  pause when we ask for parents to come in with

         11  cameras into school facilities, especially

         12  bathrooms, during the school day, I absolutely

         13  cannot let that go as a suggestion. I do not want

         14  adults with cameras in my child's bathroom during

         15  the day.

         16                 It is incumbent on the schools to

         17  come up with a system to provide the custodians who

         18  are charged with keeping those bathrooms clean and

         19  stocked, are accountable for reporting it. It is not

         20  the jobs of strangers whose background checks have

         21  not been done to be in our schools with our

         22  children, especially in the bathrooms.

         23                 I also want to thank the

         24  Representative Moskowitz for convening this group,

         25  and I hope we will soon convene a group to deal with
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          2  the issues of class size, elimination of guidance

          3  counselors and elementary schools, shrinkage of our

          4  arts programs, elimination of music programs, and

          5  the other things that are happening in the New York

          6  City public schools right now.

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

          9  Just for the record actually, just last week we had

         10  a hearing on arts education. This Committee has gone

         11  through almost all the subject matters. We had

         12  literacy, math, art, special ed. We are still going

         13  to do civics and social studies, as well as an often

         14  forgotten topic, vocational education, which is

         15  very, very important in this City, and we've dealt

         16  with many, many operational issues. We have a

         17  hearing every other week, sometimes more than

         18  perhaps the members of this Committee -- it's very

         19  grueling to be on the Education Committee, and I

         20  thank the members for all of their time and

         21  devotion. But we appreciate very much you coming.

         22                 And I just have a brief question. We

         23  do have time limits, we're supposed to be out of

         24  here by quarter of one. But I wanted to ask, because

         25  it was represented, and actually the Chancellor had
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          2  promised me that Kathleen Grimm and Marty

          3  Oestreicher were going to stay to hear you speak. We

          4  initially were going to have the parents testify

          5  first, and I was asked to rearrange the order, and

          6  having agreed to that I did ask, and it was agreed

          7  to, that Kathleen Grimm and Marty Oestreicher,

          8  whomever testified on behalf of the Department,

          9  would wait to hear you speak. Because we always have

         10  this problem where, yes, but the agreement was not

         11  Erin Stevens, and I appreciate Erin being here, the

         12  agreement was that the people who testified, the

         13  people -- Erin didn't testify. The people who

         14  testified here to this Committee and said that the

         15  bathrooms are fully stocked, and one of the reasons

         16  I wanted them to wait to hear you, and not that your

         17  experience is universal, but to hear from a sampling

         18  of parents, some of you said toilet paper was an

         19  issue, some of you said it wasn't an issue, some of

         20  you said soap was an issue, but you said the problem

         21  was not the supplies but actually the physical

         22  mechanical working of the toilets, there were lots

         23  of comments here and the Department was supposed to

         24  agree to stay here and the people who testified

         25  agreed to stay here to hear what you had to stay and
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          2  I'm disappointed that didn't happen.

          3                 But having said that, one of the

          4  things that the Deputy Chancellor for Instruction

          5  said was that, first, she denied the problem, but

          6  when she was asked, well, what are you supposed to

          7  do if you happen to have one of these problems, her

          8  response was, if I'm remembering correctly, talk to

          9  your principal, talk to your parent coordinator, or

         10  call 3-1-1. Have any of you had experiences where

         11  doing that has not resulted in the problem being

         12  solved?

         13                 Yes, and if you can restate your name

         14  for the record, because it's all transcribed.

         15                 MS. McINTYRE: My name is Valerie

         16  McIntyre. My sister and I were trying to attempt to

         17  forge our way through this system to get to someone

         18  who would listen and someone who perhaps could do

         19  something about the problems that we were

         20  encountering. And during that, I was not able to

         21  find a number for the Board through information. I

         22  called 3-1-1. I explained the situation. I was given

         23  a number to call. When I called that number, we got

         24  a recording, my sister and I, that referred us back

         25  to 3-1-1. So, in this system, and I think this is
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          2  one of the things that I think we should look at,

          3  parents don't have an avenue that is clear, clearly

          4  marked for them, that they can go through when they

          5  have a problem. They just don't.

          6                 And I'm hoping, along with the other

          7  policy of the parents here, that at some point we

          8  look at the curriculum that's in the New York City

          9  schools at this point, and get a handle on what's

         10  happening.

         11                 I've heard several parents who have

         12  said that they think it's wonderful. Well, I think

         13  if you look at those programs, they're not so

         14  wonderful.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I would be

         16  happy to discuss that subject and any other subject

         17  on your mind, but we're here today to talk on a

         18  narrow topic.

         19                 MS. McINTYRE: I understand.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: And I just

         21  want to, just for the record, I want to understand,

         22  would it be good advice for parents who are in the

         23  situation, some of you are and some of you aren't,

         24  in the situation of finding that their children

         25  complain that there is no soap, would it solve the
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          2  problem, could the parents simply call their parent

          3  coordinator, simply call their principal? What is

          4  your sense of the likelihood that that would solve

          5  the problem?

          6                 The Deputy Chancellor made it sound

          7  rather simple. All we have to do is pick up the

          8  phone and the problem will be solved. Because the

          9  television cameras are here, if I say go call 3-1-1,

         10  your problem will be taken care of, am I giving them

         11  good advice? If you think yes I would like to know,

         12  if you think no I would like to know.

         13                 Mr. Meer.

         14                 MR. MEER: I would like to say that I

         15  think in many cases principals are responsive. I

         16  reported to you that there were two fixtures

         17  actually missing from these stalls that are supposed

         18  to be inspected twice a day, and the principal had

         19  came down heavy, no doubt, on the custodian to have

         20  these devices replaced.

         21                 The problem, Madam Chairman, is that

         22  this is an ongoing problem, and what looks good

         23  today does not look good tomorrow. The children, you

         24  cannot depend on the children. Some of us, and we

         25  were talking before you convened the second part of
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          2  the hearing, we were talking among ourselves that

          3  sometimes the only way you know it is what happens

          4  is the first thing your child wants to do when they

          5  come home is go to the bathroom. And you don't even

          6  think, until these newspaper stories, you might not

          7  have even though that there's a problem. I'd like

          8  just to take issue with my friend Carol Stern Larosa

          9  who spoke just a moment ago about the inadvisability

         10  of parents making unannounced visits to the

         11  bathroom.

         12                 As a matter of fact, parents are

         13  allowed, parents with identification are allowed in

         14  the school, many times in given the free run of the

         15  school by presenting identification.

         16                 Protections can be had. I would be

         17  happy, for example, to have the parent coordinator

         18  with me when I inspect the bathroom, but unless

         19  parents are empowered to look at their own

         20  children's bathrooms, we will never know what needs

         21  to be reported to the principal.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm just

         23  trying to get a matter of fact, and we're running

         24  out of time, but is it your estimation that these

         25  problems that we have now spent three hours on
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          2  practically, could be simply solved by just a phone

          3  call, is 3-1-1 going to solve this particular

          4  problem? Margaret, you had your -- and if I could

          5  just ask you to be very brief.

          6                 MS. FALZON: Sure. As I've mentioned

          7  before, like I said, after the media frenzy, after

          8  the newspaper, of course. Friday there were the

          9  paper towels, there was the soap. But I can't help

         10  but to try to understand what you're saying. I'm

         11  trying to. But truthfully, a phone call? No. I'm

         12  sorry, I don't think it's going to work.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay, I just

         14  was trying to get that for the record, what your

         15  view is.

         16                 And if you have the same opinion or a

         17  different opinion, that would be great.

         18                 MS. STERN LAROSA: I think it really

         19  does boil down to the school. Our experience with PS

         20  41, as Mel commented, was when you report an issue

         21  to the principal, it is addressed. Within a few

         22  hours the situation was rectified. Not rectified to

         23  your satisfaction, but there was toilet paper in

         24  place, there were towels in place, there was soap in

         25  place, and I believe that the principal at PS 41 is
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          2  extremely responsive.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

          4                 MS. STERN LAROSA: And I just want to

          5  clarify one thing. I'm not objecting to parents

          6  having access to look at the bathrooms. I'm

          7  objecting to them being permitted to take

          8  photographs.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Okay. I want

         10  to make sure that my colleague, Bill DeBlasio, who

         11  is here from Brooklyn, has an opportunity to vote,

         12  so it will be recorded.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DeBLASIO: On the

         14  previous three pieces of legislation, I vote aye.

         15  Thank you, Madam Chair.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 I don't know if there is any

         19  questions. We are a little bit short on time.

         20  Questions are actually from my colleagues. Are there

         21  any comments or questions? Yes, Council Member

         22  Jackson.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, a couple

         24  of the parents raised the issue of, and I think we

         25  need to follow up on it, and I would hope that the
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          2  legislative people from the Mayor's Office and

          3  Department of Ed have taken notes, I think one

          4  parent indicated there is no running water in the

          5  bathroom. What school is that, please? Do we have

          6  the name?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I'm sorry,

          8  Ma'am? You said at a middle school that you were at?

          9                 MS. NICOSIA: I don't remember the

         10  name.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. If you

         12  could get that information, that should be reported

         13  immediately, because obviously if there's no running

         14  water, kids can't wash their hands in the bathroom.

         15                 And another parent indicated that the

         16  flushers are difficult to push, thus the toilets

         17  aren't flushed and the toilets overflow. You know,

         18  that's a terrible condition and that should be

         19  reported immediately, and what school is that?

         20                 MS. FRIER-KEMP: PS 116.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: PS 116 in

         22  district what?

         23                 MS. FRIER-KEMP: District 2.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: In District

         25  2.
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          2                 MS. FRIER-KEMP: That has been, it has

          3  been reported.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: It has been

          5  reported. Has it been resolved?

          6                 MS. FRIER-KEMP: Actually, I did speak

          7  to the custodian yesterday and he said that they

          8  were going to get some kind of device to help with

          9  the flushing.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. But the

         11  serious issues, like the mechanical situations like

         12  that, and I think that, Mr. Meer, you reported about

         13  these toilets paper dispensers that don't roll, I

         14  totally agree with you. As an adult it's so

         15  frustrating to try to unravel. Assuming that the

         16  toilet paper is even, the people have tried to

         17  unravel it before you, so sometimes you have only

         18  part of it that's unraveled, and you have to tear

         19  the part off and try to get a full sheet in order to

         20  then unravel. So, I totally agree with you, we must

         21  find a better way in order to service our children's

         22  needs. And, so, I thank you all for coming in.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON MOSKOWITZ: I want to

         25  thank you very, very much, again, for taking time
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          2  out of your busy schedules. We very much appreciate

          3  your testimony and your forthrightness on this

          4  topic, and we look forward to speaking with you

          5  about many other topics.

          6                 Thank you very, very much. I am

          7  bringing this Committee to a conclusion.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 1:00 p.m.)
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